# MACC PEI LIQUIDATING TRUST

Form 10-K October 30, 2015

**UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 Form 10-K

(Mark one)

R ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 £TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13	OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 19:
For the transition period from to	
Commission file number 000-24412	
MACC PEI Liquidating Trust (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)	
Delaware	45-6510799
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organ	
24040 Camino Del Avion #A307	
Monarch Beach, California	
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code	
Registrant's telephone number (402) 964-5000	
Securities registered under Section 12(b) of the Exc None.	change Act:
Securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Exc None.	change Act:
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-kn Yes No	nown seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.\* Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.\* Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).\* Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.\*

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting Company £

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes

State the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the common equity was last sold, or the average bid and asked price of such common equity, as of the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter: Not applicable. There is no established market for the beneficial interests of the registrant.

As of October 30, 2015 there were 2,464,621 units of beneficial interest of MACC PEI Liquidating Trust.

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE - None.

\*MACC PEI Liquidating Trust is the transferee of the assets and certain liabilities of MACC Private Equities, Inc., and files reports under the Commission file number previously used by MACC Private Equities, Inc., which filed a Form 15 on October 4, 2011.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Part I	Page
Item 1.	Business	3
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	4
Item 1B	. Unresolved Staff Comments	4
Item 2.	<u>Properties</u>	4
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	4
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	5
	Part II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	5
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	5
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operation	5
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	5
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	6
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	11
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	11
Item 9B	. Other Information	11
	Part III	
Item 10.	. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	12
Item 11.	. Executive Compensation	12
Item 12.	. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	12
Item 13.	. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	12
Item 14.	. Principal Accountant Fees and Services	12
	Part IV	

12

Table of Contents
Part I

Item 1. Business.

General

MACC Private Equities Inc. (<u>"MACC"</u> or the <u>"Company"</u>), the predecessor to MACC PEI Liquidating Trust (<u>the "Trust"</u>) was formed as a Delaware corporation on March 3, 1994. On September 26, 2011 at a special meeting (the <u>"Special Meeting"</u>) of the shareholders of MACC (the <u>"Shareholders"</u>), the following measures were approved:

the complete liquidation and dissolution of MACC and the transfer of all of MACC's assets and certain liabilities to 1.a liquidating trust established for the sole purpose of distributing MACC's assets to the Shareholders (the "Liquidation"); and

2. the withdrawal of MACC's election to be regulated as a business development company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act").

The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") previously approved the Plan of Liquidation and Dissolution on April 13, 2011 (the "Plan"). As a result of Shareholder approval of the Plan and the proposals at the Special Meeting, the Company executed the MACC PEI Liquidating Trust Agreement as Grantor, with NL Strategies, Inc., a California corporation, as Managing Trustee (the "Managing Trustee") and The Corporation Trust Company, a Delaware corporation, as Resident Trustee (the "Trust Agreement"). Under the Trust Agreement the Managing Trustee will distribute the residue of the proceeds of liquidation of MACC's assets to the beneficiaries of the Trust. The Company and the Trust also executed a Bill of Sale, Assignment, Acceptance and Assumption Agreement (the "Bill of Sale") conveying all of MACC's assets and certain obligations to the Trust. In connection with the Trust Agreement and Bill of Sale, the Trust executed a Sixth Amendment to Business Loan Agreement with Cedar Rapids Bank & Trust Company ("CRB&T") to assume the obligations of the Company's term note in the approximate principal amount of \$1,900,000 (the "Note"). Effective November 7, 2011, the Managing Trustee refinanced the Note with Cedar Rapids Bank & Trust by ("CRB&T") executing a new promissory note with Farmers & Merchants Savings Bank ("F&M Bank") providing for a loan to the Trust in the principal amount of \$2,100,000.00 (the "Loan"). The Loan was funded on November 17, 2011. On January 18, 2012, the Loan, including all principal, accrued interest and fees, totaling \$2,118,083 was retired from proceeds generated by the liquidation of investments in portfolio companies.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Trust Agreement, each former Shareholder received a pro-rata beneficial interest in the Trust equal to the Shareholder's percentage ownership of MACC common stock. For each share of MACC common stock, the holder received one unit of beneficial ownership in the Trust ("Trust Units").

As approved by the Shareholders, the Company withdrew its election to be regulated as a business development company under the 1940 Act on October 4, 2011. The Company also relied on no-action relief granted by the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") to similarly-situated liquidating trusts to limit its reporting under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Accordingly, former Shareholders who are now holders of trust units are provided the following reports going forward:

Following the end of each calendar year, the Trust will mail to each registered unit holder the appropriate Internal Revenue Service form to report the unit holder's pro rata share of each item of income, gain and loss of the Trust for the preceding calendar year.

The Trust will file reports with the SEC under Form 8-K respecting any material events impacting the Trust investment portfolio, such as material sales of portfolio securities.

The Trust will file an annual report with the SEC respecting the Trust's activities, including unaudited financials, with the SEC following the end of each calendar year.

All items filed with the SEC may be found on the SEC's web site (www.sec.gov) by reviewing filings for MACC PEI Liquidating Trust.

After payment of the Trust's obligations, including the Note, when cash liquidation proceeds are accumulated in an amount which the Managing Trustee determines would be cost effective to distribute, the Trust will make one or more cash distributions to unit holders.

- 3 -

#### **Table of Contents**

The Company terminated the registration of its securities with the SEC by filing a Form 15 on October 4, 2011. As a result, the Company is no longer obligated to file reports with the SEC under the Exchange Act.

As previously disclosed, Trust Units are not transferable or assignable, except that they may be assigned or transferred by will, intestate succession, or operation of law and that the executor or administrator of the estate of a holder of Trust Units may mortgage, pledge, grant a security interest in, hypothecate or otherwise encumber the Trust Units held by the estate of such holder if necessary in order to borrow money to pay estate, succession or inheritance taxes or the expenses of administering the estate of the holder upon written notice to and upon written consent of the trustee of the Liquidating Trust. The Trust Units are not certificated. Trust Units are not listed on any exchange or quoted on any quotation system, and the Liquidating Trust Agreement provides that neither the Managing Trustee nor anyone associated with the Liquidating Trust may take any action to facilitate or encourage any trading in Trust Units.

The Liquidating Trust's activities are limited to conserving, protecting and selling the assets transferred to it and distributing the proceeds therefrom, including holding such assets for the benefit of the holders of Trust Units, enforcing the rights of the holders of Trust Units, temporarily investing such proceeds and collecting income therefrom, providing for the liabilities of the Liquidating Trust and MACC's wind-up expenses, making liquidating distributions to the holders of Trust Units, taking such other actions as may be necessary to conserve and protect the assets of the Liquidating Trust and providing for the orderly liquidation thereof. The Managing Trustee has sole authority to value the Liquidating Trust's assets.

The Managing Trustee is responsible for conserving the Liquidating Trust's assets, under duties imposed by applicable law. The Liquidating Trust will terminate upon payment to the holders of Trust Units of all of the Liquidating Trust's assets and in any event upon the third anniversary of the date assets are first transferred to the Liquidating Trust. The life of the Liquidating Trust may, however, be extended to more than three years if the Managing Trustee of the Liquidating Trust then determines that an extension is reasonably necessary to pay or make provision for then known liabilities, actual or contingent. After reviewing the remaining assets and the time frame necessary to obtain value for certain assets, the Trustee extended the term of the Trust through December 31, 2015.

The Trustee is currently liquidating the remaining assets of the Trust and anticipates making a final distribution prior to December 31, 2015. The Trustee also anticipates that the Trust's existence will terminate following the final distribution. In 2016 Trust beneficiaries will receive the appropriate Internal Revenue Service form to report the unit

holder's pro rata share of each item of income, gain and loss of the Trust for the 2015 calendar year.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Not applicable.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

The Trust does not own or lease any properties or other tangible assets.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

There are no items to report.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

- 4 -

# Table of Contents

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

#### Market Information

There is no public market for the units of beneficial interest in the Trust. The units of beneficial interest are not and will not be listed on any exchange, quoted by a securities broker or dealer, not admitted for trading in any market, including the over-the-counter market. The units of beneficial interests are not transferable except by operation of law or upon the death of a beneficiary.

#### Beneficiaries

As of December 31, 2014, the Trust had 2,464,621 units held by an unknown number of beneficiaries.

#### Distributions

During the calendar year 2013, two distributions amounting to \$4,707,426 were made to trust beneficiaries. There were no distributions to trust beneficiaries during the calendar year ended December 31, 2014.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Not applicable.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

Not applicable.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not applicable.

- 5 -

# Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

# MACC PEI LIQUIDATING TRUST STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (Liquidation Basis) (unaudited)

A G G D TTG	December 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
ASSETS		
Current Assets	<b></b>	<b></b>
Total Cash	\$1,526,436	\$393,003
Other Current Assets		
Escrowed Holdbacks	152,216	340,831
Prepaid Expenses	16,500	16,500
Total Current Assets	1,695,152	750,334
OtherAssets		
Total Portfolio Company Debt Securities	_	482,965
Total Equity in Portfolio Companies	287,310	532,888
Total Loans to Portfolio Companies	143,000	75,339
Total Other Assets	430,310	1,091,192
Total Other Fissets	150,510	1,001,102
Total Assets	2,125,462	1,841,526
<u>LIABILITIES</u>		
Current Liabilities		
Accounts Payable	13,500	13,500
Accrued Expenses	-	-
Total Current Liabilities	13,500	13,500
Total Liabilities	13,500	13,500
Net Assets In Liquidation	\$2,111,962	\$1,828,026

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- 6 -

Table of Contents
MACC PEI LIQUIDATING TRUST
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
(Liquidation Basis)
(unaudited)

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2014

INCOME Dividends – Portfolio

Companies \$39,315

Gain on Sale

of Assets 287,700

Interest Income

from Portfolio

Companies 54,715

Interest on Money Market

Accounts 1,425 Total Income 383,155

EXPENSE Insurance

Expense 22,000

Banks Service

Charges 76

Postage &

Delivery 511

Professional Services Accounting

Services 2,500

Legal

Services 26,863

Portfolio

Management 17,980

Resident Trustee

Services 2,500

Total

Professional

Services 49,843

This agreement provides for the parties to work together to complete the necessary clinical, regulatory and manufacturing work for North American regulatory approval of the Skye Products. SkyePharma will be primarily responsible for clinical development up to final FDA approval, and for the manufacture of the Skye Products, including all associated costs. Upon approval, we will market each Skye Product in the U.S. and Canada, with SkyePharma as the supplier. We will be responsible for funding and conducting any post-marketing studies and for all selling and marketing expenses. Under this agreement, we also obtained options on other SkyePharma development products, including DepoBupivicaine<sup>TM</sup>, a long-acting, sustained release formulation of the local anesthetic bupivacaine. We have the option to obtain commercialization rights for this product when SkyePharma successfully completes its Phase II trials, as well as any further SkyePharma products formulated using the DepoFoam<sup>TM</sup> technology successfully developed for the prophylaxis or treatment of pain.

In addition, this agreement also contains terms and conditions customary for this type of arrangement, including representations, warranties, indemnities and termination rights. This agreement generally lasts until the underlying patents on the product expire. With

#### **Table of Contents**

respect to termination rights, this agreement permits us to terminate our continued participation under a number of circumstances, one of which could require us to pay SkyePharma \$5.0 million.

Penwest Pharmaceuticals Co. In September 1997, we entered into a collaboration agreement with Penwest Pharmaceuticals to exclusively co-develop opioid analgesic products for pain management, using Penwest s patent-protected proprietary technology, for commercial sale worldwide. On April 2, 2002, we amended and restated this agreement to provide, among other things, that this collaboration would cover only that opioid analgesic product currently under development by the parties, namely, oxymorphone ER. We have historically shared on an equal basis the costs of products developed under this agreement and will, in the future, share costs and profits on an equal basis (subject to the recoupment discussed below). On March 18, 2003, we received notice from Penwest that it was exercising its right under the agreement to cease funding its share of the development and pre-launch marketing costs of oxymorphone ER on account of their concern about their ability to access external capital funding opportunities in the future. Accordingly, we are now responsible for funding 100% of these remaining costs until oxymorphone ER is approved by the FDA, at which time we will recoup from the royalties due to Penwest the full amount of what Penwest should have contributed had it not exercised such right. At this point in time, we cannot predict the cost of this agreement. We have exclusive U.S. marketing rights with respect to oxymorphone ER, subject to the terms and conditions contained in this agreement. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Hind Healthcare Inc. In November 1998, we entered into a license agreement with Hind Healthcare Inc. for the sole and exclusive right to develop, use, market, promote and sell Lidoderm® in the United States. We paid Hind up-front fees and milestone payments on the occurrence of certain events. From now until the shorter of (1) the life of the last-to-expire patent licensed pursuant to this license agreement and (2) November 20, 2011, we will pay Hind non-refundable royalties of 10% of net sales of the product, including a minimum annual royalty of at least \$500,000 per year. Because these royalty payments are based on the net sales of the product, the maximum cost of these royalty payments is uncertain at this time. During 2003, we accrued \$19.9 million for this royalty, which is recorded as a reduction of net sales due to the unique nature of the license agreement and the characteristics of the involvement by Hind in Lidoderm®. Either party may terminate this agreement for material breach, and we may terminate it immediately upon termination of our supply agreement with Teikoku. In September 1999, we launched Lidoderm®, the first FDA-approved product for the treatment of the pain of post-herpetic neuralgia. In March 2002, we extended this license with Hind to cover Lidoderm® in Canada and Mexico.

#### **Environmental Matters**

Our operations are subject to substantial and evolving federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations concerning, among other matters, the generation, handling, storage, transportation, treatment and disposal of toxic and hazardous substances. We believe that our facilities and the facilities of our third party service providers are in substantial compliance with all provisions of federal, state and local laws concerning the environment and do not believe that future compliance with these provisions will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

#### **Summary of Recent Transactions**

On February 25, 2004, we entered into a License Agreement and a Supply Agreement under which Noven Pharmaceuticals, Inc. exclusively licensed to us the U.S. and Canadian rights to its developmental transdermal fentanyl patch, which is intended to be the generic equivalent of Johnson & Johnson s Duragesic (fentanyl transdermal system). Under this agreement, we made an upfront payment of \$8.0 million to Noven, \$6.5 million of which we capitalized as an intangible asset representing the fair value of the exclusive license of these distribution and marketing rights. We are amortizing this intangible asset over its useful life of 11 years. Upon our first commercial sale of the fentanyl patch, Noven is entitled to receive an additional payment ranging from \$5.0 million to \$10.0 million, depending on the timing of launch and the number of generic competitors on the market. Noven will manufacture and supply the product at its cost, and the two companies will share profits on undisclosed terms. The License Agreement also establishes an ongoing collaboration between the two companies to identify and develop additional new transdermal therapies. As part of this effort, Noven will undertake feasibility studies to determine whether certain compounds identified by the parties can be delivered through Noven s transdermal patch technology. We are expected to fund and manage clinical development of those compounds proceeding into clinical trials.

On January 28, 2004, we amended our agreement with Durect, essentially modifying Endo s funding obligations of the ongoing development costs of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup> to take into account the program delay.

19

#### **Table of Contents**

On December 19, 2003, we entered into a license granting us exclusive, worldwide rights to certain patents of EpiCept Corp. as well as exclusive, worldwide commercialization rights to EpiCept s LidoPAIN® BP product. The license agreement provides for Endo to pay EpiCept milestones as well as royalties on the net sales of EpiCept s LidoPAIN® BP product. EpiCept has also retained an option to co-promote the LidoPAIN® BP product. Under this agreement, we made an upfront payment to EpiCept of \$7.5 million which we capitalized as an intangible asset representing the fair value of the exclusive right and the patents. We are amortizing this intangible asset over its useful life of 13 years. Future milestone payments made by us under this agreement, including regulatory milestones and sales thresholds, could total up to \$82.5 million.

#### **Description of Credit Facility**

On August 26, 1997, we entered into a credit agreement with a number of lenders and The Chase Manhattan Bank (n/k/a JPMorgan Chase Bank), as administrative agent. On October 29, 2001, we repaid in full the \$101.1 million of term loans that were outstanding thereunder, and on December 21, 2001, we amended and restated this credit agreement. As of December 31, 2003, no amounts were outstanding under the credit agreement.

Under the credit agreement, we have the ability to borrow on a revolving basis up to \$75.0 million. The revolving loans have a final maturity of December 21, 2006.

These loans bear interest at an agreed-upon spread over the applicable base rate (as defined in the credit agreement) or over the London Interbank Offered Rate. The loans outstanding under the credit agreement are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets. These loans are subject to mandatory repayment in limited circumstances. Voluntary prepayments of these loans and voluntary reductions of the credit facility are permitted, in whole or in part, at our option in minimum principal amounts, without premium or penalty, subject to reimbursement of the lenders costs under specified circumstances.

The credit agreement contains representations and warranties, covenants, events of default and other provisions customarily found in similar agreements. See Note 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

#### **Employees**

As of December 31, 2003, we had 492 employees, of which 59 are engaged in research and development, 21 in regulatory work, 301 in sales and marketing, 24 in quality assurance and 87 in general and administrative capacities. Our employees are not represented by unions, and we believe that our relations with our employees are good.

# **Executive Officers of the Registrant**

Set forth below is information regarding each of our current executive officers, as of March 10, 2004:

Name	Age	<b>Position and Offices</b>
Carol A. Ammon	52	

		Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
7 00 P P1 1	20	
Jeffrey R. Black	39	Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
		Officer and Treasurer
Peter A. Lankau	51	President and Chief Operating Officer
David A.H. Lee, M.D.,	54	Executive Vice President, Research &
Ph.D.		Development
Caroline B. Manogue	35	Senior Vice President, General Counsel
		& Secretary

CAROL A. AMMON, 52, is Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Endo. In February 2002, Ms. Ammon was appointed Chairman of the Board in addition to her then current roles of President and Chief Executive Officer. Prior to April 2003, Ms. Ammon also served as the President of Endo. Prior to joining Endo, Ms. Ammon was the President of DuPont Merck s U.S. Pharmaceuticals Division from 1996 through 1997, and from 1993 through 1995 she was the President of Endo Laboratories, L.L.C. She also serves as a director on the boards of the Christiana Care Health System and the St. Louis School of Pharmacy in St. Louis, Missouri.

JEFFREY R. BLACK, 39, is Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Endo. Prior to joining Endo, Mr. Black became a Partner in June 1997 with Deloitte & Touche LLP in the New York Merger and Acquisition Services Group, after joining that firm in 1986.

PETER A. LANKAU, 51, is President and Chief Operating Officer of Endo. Prior to April 2003, Mr. Lankau was Senior Vice President,

20

#### **Table of Contents**

U.S. Business of Endo. Prior to joining Endo in June 2000, Mr. Lankau was Vice President, Sales and Marketing for Alpharma USPD, Inc. in Baltimore, Maryland. He was Vice President, Sales-U.S. Pharmaceuticals for Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc. (f/k/a Rhone Poulenc Rorer, Inc.) from 1996 to 1999, based in Collegeville, Pennsylvania. Mr. Lankau was Executive Director, Strategy and Development for Aventis from 1995 to 1996. Prior to 1995, he held various management positions at Aventis including business unit management, and had responsibility for Aventis generics business as well as managed care.

DAVID A.H. LEE, M.D. Ph.D., 54, is Executive Vice President, Research & Development and Regulatory Affairs of Endo. Prior to joining Endo in December of 1997, Dr. Lee was Executive Vice President, Research and Development for CoCensys, Inc., an emerging pharmaceuticals company based in Irvine, California, from 1992 through 1997. Prior to joining CoCensys, Dr. Lee held various positions at Solvay Pharmaceuticals in the Netherlands, ranging from head of global clinical development programs to his final position as Vice President, Research and Development. Dr. Lee received his M.D. and Ph.D. degrees from the University of London and specialized in internal medicine and gastroenterology, prior to joining the pharmaceutical industry.

CAROLINE B. MANOGUE, 35, is Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Endo. Prior to joining Endo in September 2000, Ms. Manogue was an Associate at the law firm Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP since 1995.

We have employment agreements with each of our executive officers.

# **Dividend Policy**

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. Furthermore, the payment of cash dividends from earnings is currently restricted by our credit facility. Assuming removal of this restriction, the payment of cash dividends is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on many factors, including our earnings, capital needs and general financial condition. We anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, we will retain our earnings in order to finance the expansion of our business.

#### **Available Information**

Our Internet address is http://www.endo.com. The contents of our website are not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and our Internet address is included in this document as an inactive textual reference only. We make our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such reports with, or furnish such reports to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### Item 2. Properties

We lease all of our properties. Of these, the most significant are our research and development facility located in Garden City, New York and our corporate headquarters in Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania. In addition, on January 6, 2003, we entered into an agreement with Dawson Holding Company to lease a facility in Westbury, New York, which will become our new

research and development facility in early 2004. A description of the material terms of each of the agreements pertaining to these properties follows:

#### Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania

Painters Crossing One Associates, L.P. Lease Agreement. On May 5, 2000, we entered into a ten-year lease with Painters Crossing One Associates, L.P. pursuant to which Painters Crossing leases to us a building comprised of approximately 47,756 square feet located in Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania. By amendment dated February 26, 2001, this lease commenced on August 1, 2001 and will end on August 31, 2010. However, we, at our discretion, have the right to terminate this lease at the end of the fifth year, by providing two years notice and paying a fixed termination fee to Painters Crossing. During the term of the lease, the annual rent is a fixed amount paid in equal monthly installments that increase after the first five years of the lease.

Painters Crossing Two Associates, L.P. Lease Agreement. On November 13, 2003, we entered into a ten-year lease with Painters Crossing Two Associates, L.P. pursuant to which Painters Crossing will lease to us a building comprised of approximately 64,424 square feet located across the street from our corporate headquarters in Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania. This lease will commence once construction of the building is complete, currently anticipated to be late 2004 or early 2005. We, at our discretion, have the right to terminate this lease at the end of the sixth year, by providing two years notice and paying a fixed termination fee to Painters Crossing. During the term of the lease, the annual rent is a fixed amount paid in equal monthly installments that increase after the first five years of the

21

#### **Table of Contents**

lease.

# Garden City, New York

Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals) Lease Agreement. Under this agreement, we currently lease a laboratory and office building from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which is located at Bristol-Myers Squibb s Garden City, New York manufacturing facility. We use these facilities for the research and development of our pharmaceutical products. The lease is not assignable by us without the consent of Bristol-Myers Squibb. The lease may be terminated (1) by us, if substantial premise alteration changes are required in order to comply with government regulations, (2) by Bristol-Myers Squibb, for tenant damage and destruction to the premises and (3) as a result of arbitration between the parties. Pursuant to an amendment dated August 26, 2002, the term of the lease expires on June 30, 2004, prior to which time we will move into our new research and development facility in Westbury, New York. See Westbury, New York.

#### Westbury, New York

Dawson Holding Company. Under this agreement, dated January 6, 2003, we lease a 24,190 square foot facility in Westbury, New York. Once our current lease of the Bristol-Myers Squibb facility in Garden City, New York expires, we will use this space for the research and development of our pharmaceutical products. Until such time, we are renovating this space to accommodate our needs. The annual rent due for this facility is \$152,397 in the first year of the lease, escalating by 4% each year thereafter. This ten-year lease is not assignable without the consent of the landlord, Dawson Holding. This lease may by terminated (1) by us, at the end of the fifth year with the payment to Dawson Holding of approximately \$239,000 plus 75% of any additional rent owed during the fifth lease year, (2) by us, with 30 days notice, if the facility has suffered a fire or other casualty and Dawson Holding has not substantially restored it to its condition existing immediately prior to the fire or other casualty within one year from the date Dawson Holding received insurance proceeds, (3) by Dawson Holding, for our default under the lease, or (4) by either Dawson Holding or us, within 30 days of any condemnation.

# Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Purdue Pharma L.P., et al. v. Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc., et al., Index No. 00 Civ. 8029 (SHS) (S.D.N.Y.); Purdue Pharma L.P., et al. v. Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc., et al., Index No. 01 Civ. 2109 (SHS) (S.D.N.Y.); Purdue Pharma L.P., et al. v. Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc., et al., Index No. 01 Civ. 8177 (SHS) (S.D.N.Y.)

On October 20, 2000, The Purdue Frederick Company and related companies (Purdue Frederick) filed suit against us and our subsidiary, Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. (EPI), in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York alleging that EPI s bioequivalent version of Purdue Frederick s OxyContin (oxycodone hydrochloride extended-release tablets), 40mg strength, infringes three of its patents. This suit arose after EPI provided the plaintiffs with notice that its ANDA submission for a bioequivalent version of Purdue Frederick s OxyContin, 40mg strength, challenged the listed patents for OxyContin 40mg tablets. On March 13, 2001, Purdue Frederick filed a second suit against us and EPI in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York alleging that EPI s bioequivalent versions of Purdue Frederick s OxyContin, 10mg and 20mg strengths, infringe the same three patents. This suit arose from EPI having amended its

earlier ANDA on February 9, 2001 to add bioequivalent versions of the 10mg and 20mg strengths of OxyContin. On August 30, 2001, Purdue Frederick filed a third suit against us and EPI in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York alleging that EPI s bioequivalent version of Purdue Frederick s OxyContin, 80mg strength, infringes the same three patents. This suit arose from EPI having amended its earlier ANDA on July 30, 2001 to add the bioequivalent version of the 80mg strength of OxyContin.

For each of the 10mg, 20mg, 40mg and 80mg strengths of this product, EPI made the required Paragraph IV certification against the patents listed in the FDA s Orange Book as covering these strengths of OxyContin. EPI pleaded counterclaims that the patents asserted by Purdue Frederick are invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed by EPI s formulation of oxycodone hydrochloride extended-release tablets, 10mg, 20mg, 40mg and 80mg strengths. EPI also counterclaimed for antitrust damages based on allegations that Purdue Frederick obtained the patents through fraud on the United States Patent and Trademark Office and is asserting them while aware of their invalidity and unenforceability.

The trial of the patent claims in all three of the suits against us and EPI concluded on June 23, 2003. On January 5, 2004, the district court issued an opinion holding that, while Endo infringes the three Purdue patents, the patents are unenforceable due to inequitable conduct. The district court, therefore, dismissed the patent claims against us and EPI, declared the patents invalid, and enjoined Purdue from further enforcement of the patents. Purdue has begun the appeal process, and has asked the appeals court to

22

#### **Table of Contents**

expedite the appeal and to stay the injunction against enforcement of the patents until the appeal is resolved. Purdue originally requested such a stay from the district court, which the district court denied on February 13, 2004. In turn, we have begun the process of cross-appealing the district court s infringement ruling. By an earlier order, the judge bifurcated the antitrust counterclaims for a separate and subsequent trial.

Litigation similar to that described above may also result from products we currently have in development, as well as those that we may develop in the future. We, however, cannot predict the timing or outcome of any such litigation, or whether any such litigation will be brought against us.

Rowe, et al. v. Bayer Corp., et al., No. 02-1833 (E.D. La.); In Re: PPA Products Liability Litigation, MDL No. 1407 (W.D. Wash.); Landry, et al. v. Bayer Corp., et al., No. 02-1835, (E.D. La.); In Re: PPA Products Liability Litigation, MDL No. 1407 (W.D. Wash.); Everidge, et al. v. Bayer Corp., et al., No. 02-1834 (E.D. La.); In Re: PPA Products Liability Litigation, MDL No. 1407 (W.D. Wash.); Ackel, et al. v. Bayer Corp., et al., No. 02-1831 (E.D. La.); In Re: PPA Products Liability Litigation, MDL No. 1407 (W.D. Wash.); Ashton, et al. v. Bayer Corp., et al., No. 02-598 (M.D. La.); In Re: PPA Products Liability Litigation, MDL No. 1407 (W.D. Wash.); McCullough, et al. v. American Home Products Corp., et al., No. CV02-1295-S (W.D. La.); In Re: PPA Products Liability Litigation, MDL No. 1407 (W.D. Wash.)

On June 17, 2002, EPI was named, along with ten other pharmaceutical companies, as a defendant in four lawsuits filed by groups of 28, 34, 37, and 43 individual plaintiffs, respectively, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana. On June 18, 2002, EPI was named, along with ten other pharmaceutical companies, as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Ellen McCullough and Brenda Businelle in the United States District Court for the Western District of Louisiana. On June 21, 2002, EPI was named, along with ten other pharmaceutical companies, as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Joyce Ashton and Bernadine Johnson in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Louisiana. According to each of these six complaints, each of the defendant pharmaceutical companies allegedly manufactured and sold products containing phenylpropanolamine (PPA). Each complaint alleges that the defendants failed to adequately warn plaintiff of the hazards of the use of the subject products containing PPA and that as a result of this failure to warn, plaintiffs suffered injury. Each of these six cases was transferred to the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington by order of the United States Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation. Each plaintiff in the above-referenced cases was directed by the presiding judge to file, not later than June 29, 2003, a separate, single-plaintiff action identifying particular defendant manufacturers whose products allegedly harmed each plaintiff. EPI neither has been named, nor served with process in any single-plaintiff case filed by any of the foregoing plaintiffs pursuant to the Court s prior order. On October 14, 2003, the Court granted EPI s motions to dismiss with prejudice the claims of 113 individual plaintiffs from the Rowe, Landry, Everidge, Ackel and Ashton cases on the grounds that those plaintiffs had failed to specifically allege use of an EPI product containing PPA. On October 24, 2003, the Court granted a co-defendant s motion to dismiss with prejudice, as to all defendants including EPI, the claims of 69 individual plaintiffs in the Rowe, Landry, Everidge, Ackel, Ashton and McCullough cases on the grounds that those plaintiffs failed to comply with Court-ordered discovery. One or more of the foregoing orders of dismissal with prejudice applies to every plaintiff in the Rowe, Landry, Everidge, Ackel, Ashton and McCullough cases. Moreover, on August 25, 2003, after providing plaintiffs with the opportunity to file separate single-plaintiff actions, the Court dismissed the Rowe, Landry, Everidge, Ackel, Ashton and McCullough

multiplaintiff cases with prejudice. Consequently, EPI is not currently a party defendant in any multidistrict litigation proceedings concerning alleged harm from PPA. However, subsequent to the entry of the orders of dismissal, certain plaintiffs moved the District Court for reconsideration of and for relief from the foregoing August 25, 2003 and October 24, 2003 orders, and the Court has not yet ruled on those motions.

John Fontenot et al. v. Able Laboratories, Inc. et al., No. 98-845 (34th Judicial District Court for the Parish of St. Bernard, State of Louisiana)

On May 7, 2003, EPI was named, along with thirteen other pharmaceutical companies and four pharmacies, as a defendant in a lawsuit filed by John Fontenot, Helen Fontenot Serpas and Andre Paul Fontenot in the 34th Judicial District Court for the Parish of St. Bernard, State of Louisiana. Defendants removed the matter to the U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Louisiana, and a motion to remand, filed by plaintiffs, was set for hearing in September; however, on plaintiffs motion, the hearing was re-set for November 19, 2003. Federal court is the preferred jurisdiction so defendants will vigorously oppose the remand. Discovery has not yet begun as several defendants have not made appearances. According to the complaint, each of the pharmaceutical companies manufactured or distributed the drugs oxycodone, hydrocodone and/or OxyContin. The complaint alleges that the defendants failed to adequately warn physicians and their patients of the dangers involved with these drugs and that as a result of this failure to warn, plaintiffs suffered injury. EPI intended to defend itself vigorously in this case. On or about November 7, 2003, plaintiffs filed a motion to dismiss the case, and the Court signed an order, dismissing the case with prejudice, on November 26, 2003. The order was entered on December 2, 2003. Accordingly, this litigation against EPI has terminated.

23

#### **Table of Contents**

General

In addition to the above, we are involved in, or have been involved in, arbitrations or legal proceedings that arise from the normal course of our business. We cannot predict the timing or outcome of these claims and proceedings. Currently, we are not involved in any arbitration and/or legal proceeding that we expect to have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations and cash flows.

# Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.

#### **PART II**

#### Item 5. Market for Registrant s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

*Market Information*. Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq under the symbol ENDP . The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low share price information for the periods indicated. The prices shown represent quotations between dealers, without adjustment for retail markups, markdowns or commissions, and may not represent actual transactions.

	Endo Common Stock		
	High	Low	
Year Ending December 31, 2003			
1st Quarter	\$14.10	\$ 7.49	
2nd Quarter	\$19.45	\$12.72	
3rd Quarter	\$22.26	\$13.99	
4th Quarter	\$24.00	\$14.50	
Year Ending December 31,			
2002			
1st Quarter	\$13.31	\$ 8.80	
2nd Quarter	\$13.05	\$ 4.98	
3rd Quarter	\$ 9.56	\$ 5.81	
4th Quarter	\$ 9.50	\$ 5.90	

*Holders*. As of March 11, 2004, we estimate that there were approximately 128 record holders of our common stock.

*Dividends*. We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information. The following information relates to plans in effect as of December 31, 2003 under which equity securities of Endo may be issued to employees and directors. Although the Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan provides that stock options may be granted thereunder to non-employee consultants, Endo has never granted any such options to any such consultants.

	Column A Column B		Column C	
	Number of securities	Weighted-average		
	to be issued	exercise price of	available for future issuance under equity	
	upon exercise of outstanding options,	outstanding options,	compensation plans (excluding securities	
Plan Category	warrants and rights	warrants and rights	reflected in Column A)	
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders Endo Pharma LLC Amended and Postered 1007 Executive				
and Restated 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan Endo Pharma LLC Amended	28,882,644(a)	\$ 2.63	803,830(b)	
and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan	3,002,382(a)	\$ 2.63	803,830(b)	
	24			

#### **Table of Contents**

	Column A	Column B	Column C
	Number of securities	Weighted-average	Number of securities remaining available for future
	to be issued	exercise price of	issuance under equity
Plan Category	upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	outstanding options, warrants and rights	compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in Column A)
Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders Not Applicable.	3,330,179	\$ 11.86	669,821

- (a) All of the stock options granted under these plans are exercisable solely for shares currently held by Endo Pharma LLC (an affiliate of Kelso & Company in which certain members of management have an interest), and their exercise will not dilute the ownership of our other common stockholders.
- (b) These shares are available for future issuance under either the Endo Pharma LLC Amended and Restated 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan or the Endo Pharma LLC Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, but not both.

# Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The consolidated financial data presented below have been derived from our audited financial statements. The selected historical consolidated financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. The selected data in this section is not intended to replace the consolidated financial statements. The information presented below is not necessarily indicative of the results of our future operations.

		Year Ended December 31,						
	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003			
	(in thousands, except per share data)							
Consolidated								
Statement of								
Operations								
Data:								
Net sales	\$138,546	\$ 197,429	\$251,979	\$398,973	\$595,608			

Edgar Filing: MACC PEI LIQUIDATING TRUST - Form 10-K

Cost of sales	58,263	63,041	74,891	98,857	135,671
Gross profit	80,283	134,388	177,088	300,116	459,937
Selling, general and administrative	42,921	56,537	79,505	110,907	155,827
Research and development	9,373	26,012	38,994	56,823	51,024
Depreciation and amortization	8,309	27,624	49,234	3,142	6,272
Compensation related to stock options Purchased in-process research and		15,300	37,253	34,659	144,524
development  Manufacturing transfer		133,200		20,300	(6,966)
fee Merger and other				9,000	
related costs Separation benefits		1,583 22,034			
Operating income (loss) Interest expense, net	19,680 14,347	(147,902) 15,119	(27,898) 13,290	65,285 4,391	109,256 258
Income (loss) before income tax (benefit)	5,333	(163,021)	(41,188)	60,894	108,998
Income tax (benefit)	2,073	(6,181)	(4,646)	30,081	39,208
Net income (loss)	\$ 3,260	\$(156,840)	\$ (36,542)	\$ 30,813	\$ 69,790
Basic and Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Share:					
Basic Diluted	\$ .05 \$ .05	\$ (1.97) \$ (1.97)	\$ (.40) \$ (.40)	\$ .30 \$ .30	\$ .54 \$ .53
Shares Used to Compute Basic Net	ψ .03	ψ (1.57)	ψ (.10)	ψ .50	ψ .55
Income (Loss) Per Share Shares Used to Compute Diluted Net	71,332	79,454	91,505	102,064	128,417
Income (Loss) Per Share	71,332	79,454	91,505	102,126	132,439
		25			

#### **Table of Contents**

As	of	and	for	the	Year	Ended	<b>December</b>	31.
7 70	V.	unu	101		ı cuı	Linucu	December	-

	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003
			(in thousand	s)	
Consolidated					
<b>Balance Sheet Data:</b>					
Cash and cash					
equivalents	\$ 22,028	\$ 59,196	\$ 95,357	\$ 56,902	\$229,573
Working capital	49,541	72,759	65,259	105,058	287,922
Total assets	329,436	467,840	470,995	512,972	753,880
Total debt	191,203	198,525	91,259		
Other long-term					
obligations	6,745	7,218	207	7,851	589
Stockholders equity	78,587	198,173	295,122	352,692	567,617
Other Financial					
Data:					
Net cash provided by					
operating activities	\$ 13,766	\$ 35,069	\$ 80,486	\$ 109,638	\$218,259
Net cash provided by					
(used in) investing					
activities	(9,074)	18,077	(6,546)	(22,274)	(45,159)
Net cash provided by					
(used in) financing					
activities	(31)	(15,978)	(37,779)	(125,819)	(429)

Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Except for the historical information contained in this Report, this Report, including the following discussion, contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.

#### Overview

We, through our wholly owned subsidiary, Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc., are engaged in the research, development, sales and marketing of branded and generic prescription pharmaceuticals used primarily for the treatment and management of pain. Branded products comprised approximately 67%, 63% and 70% of net sales for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003. On August 26, 1997, an affiliate of Kelso & Company and the then members of management entered into an asset purchase agreement with the then DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Company to acquire certain branded and generic pharmaceutical products and exclusive worldwide rights to a number of new chemical entities in the DuPont research and development pipeline from DuPont Merck through the newly-formed Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. The stock of Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. is our only asset, and we have no other operations or business.

On July 26, 2002, our wholly owned subsidiary, Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc., acquired BML Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or BML, a privately held company, for an up-front payment of \$14 million. In addition, if the FDA approved BML s lead pipeline product, an oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for

oral mucositis, Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. would have paid the former shareholders of BML a \$32 million payment and an earn-out based on a percentage of net sales of certain products in BML s pipeline. We have accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method of accounting. In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the purchase price was allocated to BML s assets and liabilities based on their respective fair values on the date of the acquisition.

The BML acquisition included an on-going project to research and develop an oral rinse product (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis. As a result, the allocation of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed included an allocation to purchased in-process research and development, or IPRD, of \$20.3 million which was expensed in the consolidated statement of operations on the acquisition date. The methodology we used on the acquisition date in determining the value of IPRD was to: 1) identify the various on-going projects that we had determined to prioritize and continue; 2) project net future cash flows of the identified projects based on then current demand and pricing assumptions, less the anticipated expenses to complete the development program, drug application, and launch of the product (significant net cash inflows from the oral rinse product (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis were projected in 2004); and 3) discount these cash flows based on a risk-adjusted discount rate of 20%. The discount rate was determined after considering various uncertainties at the time of the acquisition, including the relative risk of the investment and the time value of money. We allocated fair value to one project of BML Pharmaceuticals, the oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed, results of operations and cash flows of BML have been included in our financial statements and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations prospectively for reporting periods beginning July 26, 2002.

On October 24, 2003, we announced that our pivotal Phase III clinical trial of the oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) product for oral mucositis did not meet its primary endpoint of preventing oral mucositis. During the fourth quarter of 2003, we made the decision to discontinue our development program for this oral rinse product. As a result we extinguished the contingent liability related to the program resulting in a gain of \$7.0 million in 2003.

In May 2001, we entered into a long-term manufacturing and development agreement with Novartis Consumer Health, Inc., whereby Novartis has agreed to manufacture certain of our commercial products and products in development. We have incurred significant costs associated with the preparation of Novartis manufacturing operations under this agreement. These costs primarily relate to the preparation of test batches of drug product for FDA approval and our own quality assessment and administrative costs

26

#### **Table of Contents**

relating to the shifting of existing production to Novartis. During 2003, we incurred approximately \$5.8 million of these costs which are reflected in research and development expense.

Our quarterly results have fluctuated in the past, and may continue to fluctuate. These fluctuations are primarily due to the timing of new product launches, purchasing patterns of our customers, market acceptance of our products and the impact of competitive products and pricing.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies**

To understand our financial statements, it is important to understand our accounting policies. The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (generally accepted accounting principles) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions are required in the determination of sales deductions for estimated chargebacks, rebates, sales incentives and allowances, royalties and returns and losses. Significant estimates and assumptions are also required in the appropriateness of amortization periods for identifiable intangible assets and the potential impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. Some of these judgments can be subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results may differ from these estimates. For any given individual estimate or assumption made by us, there may also be other estimates or assumptions that are reasonable. We believe, however, that given current facts and circumstances, it is unlikely that applying any such other reasonable judgment would cause a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows for the periods represented in this section. Our most critical accounting policies are described below:

#### Sales Deductions

When we recognize revenue from the sale of our products, we simultaneously record an adjustment to revenue for estimated chargebacks, rebates, sales incentives and allowances, royalties and returns and losses. These provisions are estimated based on historical experience, estimated future trends, estimated customer inventory levels, current contract sales terms with our wholesale and indirect customers and other competitive factors. If the assumptions we used to calculate these adjustments do not appropriately reflect future activity, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be impacted. The provision for chargebacks is the most significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of our revenue. We establish contract prices for indirect customers who are supplied by our wholesale customers. A chargeback represents the difference between our invoice price to the wholesaler and the indirect customer s contract price. Provisions for estimating chargebacks are calculated primarily using historical chargeback experience, estimated wholesaler inventory levels and estimated future trends. We establish contracts with wholesalers, chain stores and indirect customers that provide for rebates, sales incentives and other allowances. Some customers receive rebates upon attaining established sales volumes. We estimate rebates, sales incentives and other allowances based upon the terms of the contracts with our customers, historical experience, estimated inventory levels of our customers and estimated future trends. We estimate an accrual for Medicaid rebates as a reduction of revenue at the time product sales are recorded. The Medicaid rebate reserve is estimated based upon the historical payment experience, historical relationship to revenues and estimated future trends. Royalties represent amounts accrued pursuant to the license agreement with Hind

Healthcare Inc. (Hind). Royalties are recorded as a reduction to net sales due to the nature of the license agreement and the characteristics of the license involvement by Hind in Lidoderm®. Royalties are paid to Hind at a rate of 10% of net sales of Lidoderm®. Our return policy allows customers to receive credit for expired products within three months prior to expiration and within one year after expiration. We estimate the provision for product returns based upon the historical experience of returns for each product, historical relationship to revenues, estimated future trends, estimated customer inventory levels and other competitive factors. We continually monitor the factors that influence each type of sales deduction and make adjustments as necessary.

#### Amortizable Intangibles: Licenses

Licenses are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization, and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives ranging from thirteen to twenty years. We determine amortization periods for licenses based on our assessment of various factors impacting estimated useful lives and cash flows of the acquired rights. Such factors include the expected launch date of the product, the strength of the intellectual property protection of the product and various other competitive, developmental and regulatory issues, and contractual terms. Significant changes to any of these factors may result in a reduction in the useful life of the license and an acceleration of related amortization expense, which could cause our operating income, net income and earnings per share to decrease. Licenses are assessed periodically for impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144,

27

#### **Table of Contents**

Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of (SFAS No. 144). The impairment testing involves comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the forecasted undiscounted future cash flows of the product. In the event the carrying value of the asset exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows of the product and the carrying value is not considered recoverable, an impairment exists. An impairment loss is measured as the excess of the asset s carrying value over its fair value, calculated using a discounted future cash flow method. An impairment loss would be recognized in net income in the period that the impairment occurs.

# Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, and will no longer amortize goodwill and workforce in place. Goodwill and other intangibles represents a significant portion of our assets and stockholders equity. As of December 31, 2003, goodwill and other intangibles comprised approximately 30% of our total assets and 39% of our stockholders equity. We assess the potential impairment of goodwill by comparing the fair value of goodwill to its carrying value for our one reporting unit. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated fair value is less than its carrying amount. As a result of the significance of goodwill, our results of operations and financial position in a future period could be negatively impacted should an impairment of goodwill occur.

We have one reportable segment, pharmaceutical products. Goodwill arose as a result of the August 26, 1997 acquisition of certain branded and generic pharmaceutical products, related rights and certain assets of the then DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Company (n/k/a Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company) and the July 17, 2000 acquisition of Algos. Although goodwill arose in two separate transactions, the components of our operating segment have been integrated and are managed as one reporting unit. Our components extensively share assets and other resources with the other components of our business and have similar economic characteristics. In addition, our components do not maintain discrete financial information. Accordingly, the components of our business have been aggregated into one reporting unit and are evaluated as such for goodwill impairment. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis on January 1st of each year unless events or circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred between annual dates. Goodwill has been evaluated for impairment upon the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002 and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment was identified. On January 1, 2004 and 2003, our goodwill was evaluated for impairment and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment was identified.

Our goodwill and other intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

	December 31, 2003	December 31, 2002
Goodwill	\$181,079	\$181,079

Amortizable Intangibles:

Edgar Filing: MACC PEI LIQUIDATING TRUST - Form 10-K

Licenses Patents	\$ 43,500 3,200	\$ 36,000 3,200
Less accumulated amortization	46,700	39,200
	(4,657)	(2,445)
Other Intangibles, net	\$ 42,043	\$ 36,755

Effective January 1, 2002, we reclassified the carrying amount of workforce-in-place as goodwill. The cost of license fees is capitalized and is being amortized using the straight-line method over the licenses estimated useful lives of twelve to twenty years. The cost of acquired patents is capitalized and is being amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of seventeen years.

The pro forma effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31.

	Teal Ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2001
	(in thousa	nds, except p	er share data)
Reported net income (loss)	\$69,790	\$30,813	\$(36,542)
Add back: Goodwill amortization			40,431
Add back: Amortization of			
workforce-in-place			5,948
Less: Pro forma income (tax) benefit			(6,634)
,			
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$69,790	\$30,813	\$ 3,203

28

#### **Table of Contents**

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2001
	(in thousands, except per share data)		ot per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share:		,	
Reported net income (loss) Add back: Goodwill amortization Add back: Amortization of	\$0.54	\$0.30	\$(0.40) 0.44
workforce-in-place Less: Pro forma income (tax) benefit			0.07 (0.07)
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$0.54	\$0.30	\$ 0.04
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:			
Reported net (loss) income Add back: Goodwill amortization Add back: Amortization of	\$0.53	\$0.30	\$(0.40) 0.44
workforce-in-place			0.07
Less: Pro forma income (tax) benefit			(0.07)
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$0.53	\$0.30	\$ 0.04

Estimated amortization of intangibles for the five fiscal years subsequent to December 31, 2003 is as follows (in thousands):

2004	\$2,788
2005	2,788
2006	2,788
2007	2,788
2008	2.788

# 

In our 2001 fiscal year we incurred a non-cash charge of \$37.3 million, in our 2002 fiscal year we recorded a non-cash charge of \$34.7 million and in our 2003 fiscal year we recorded a non-cash charge of \$144.5 million, in each case for stock-based compensation relating to the vesting of options that were issued under the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Amended and Restated Executive Stock Option Plan and the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan (together, the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans ) and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Employee Stock Option Plan and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Executive Stock Option Plan (collectively, the Endo Pharma LLC 2000

Supplemental Stock Option Plans ). Under the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans, tranches of options vested if we attained certain stock price targets. As each tranche vested, we incurred a non-cash charge representing the difference between the market price of the shares underlying the options and the exercise price of such options. Upon exercise, no additional shares of our common stock will be issued, however, because these stock options are exercisable only into shares of our common stock that are held by Endo Pharma LLC. Accordingly, these stock options do not dilute the public shareholders. In addition, Endo Pharma LLC, and not us, will receive the exercise price payable in connection with these options. Further, the shares of common stock that individuals receive upon exercise of stock options granted pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans are currently subject to significant restrictions that are set forth in stockholders agreements.

For a discussion of the tax sharing agreement between the Company and Endo Pharma LLC relating to the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Options, see Liquidity and Capital Resources; Tax Sharing Agreement.

# Compensation Related to Stock Options Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

All the stock options we have granted pursuant to the Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan have exercise prices equal to the market price of our stock on the date granted and, under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, a measurement date occurs on the date of each grant. Consequently, we do not expect to incur a charge upon the vesting or exercise of those options.

#### Results of Operations

Net Sales

Our net sales consist of revenues from sales of our pharmaceutical products, less estimates for certain chargebacks, sales allowances, the cost of returns and losses. We recognize revenue when products are shipped and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer, which is typically upon delivery to the customer. Our shipping terms are free on board customer s destination.

The following table presents our unaudited net sales by product category for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003.

29

#### **Table of Contents**

Year Ended December 31,

	2001	2002	2003	
	(in thousands, unaudited)			
Percocet®	\$100,967	\$144,623	\$214,187	
Lidoderm®	40,878	83,218	178,299	
Other brands	25,824	22,046	21,870	
Total brands	167,669	249,887	414,356	
Total generics	84,310	149,086	181,252	
Total net sales	\$251,979	\$398,973	\$595,608	

The following table presents our unaudited net sales as a percentage of total net sales for select products for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003.

Vear	Ended	December	31
i eai	171161661	December	. 7

	2001	2002	2003		
	(1	(unaudited)			
Percocet®	40%	36%	36%		
Lidoderm®	16	21	30		
Other brands	11	6	4		
Total brands	67	63	70		
Total generics	33	37	30		
C					
Total	100%	100%	100%		

# Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2002

*Net Sales.* Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased by 49% to \$595.6 million from \$399.0 million in the comparable 2002 period. This increase in net sales was primarily due to the increase in the net sales of Lidoderm®, the first FDA-approved product for the treatment of the pain of post-herpetic neuralgia, Percocet®, and certain generic products. Net sales of Lidoderm® increased to \$178.3 million from \$83.2 million in the comparable 2002 period. In September 1999, we launched Lidoderm®, which continues to gain market share due to our ongoing promotional and educational efforts. Percocet® net sales increased to \$214.2 million

from \$144.6 million in the comparable 2002 period due to the increase in net sales of Percocet® 7.5/325 and Percocet® 10.0/325. On October 20, 2003, Watson Pharmaceuticals announced that it was launching its generic versions of Percocet® 7.5/325 and Percocet® 10.0/325. Net sales of our generic products increased 22% to \$181.3 million from \$149.1 million in the comparable 2002 period primarily due to the growth of Endocet® and our generic morphine sulfate extended-release tablets. In October 2003, we launched two new strengths of our generic product Endocet®. During the third quarter of 2003, the FDA approved all five strengths of Mallinckrodt Inc. s generic extended-release morphine sulfate. Generic competition with our products may have a material impact on our results of operations and cash flows in the future. Due to the generic competition with our Percocet® and morphine sulfate extended-release tablets, partially offset by an expected increase in net sales of Lidoderm®, we expect net sales in 2004 to be approximately \$570 to \$580 million.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased by 53% to \$459.9 million from \$300.1 million in the comparable 2002 period. Gross profit margins increased to 77% from 75% due to a more favorable mix of higher margin brand and generic products resulting from the products discussed above. Included in cost of sales is a charge of \$24.6 million in 2003 and \$8.0 million in 2002 to fully reserve for the inventory of extended-release oxycodone tablets that were manufactured during those years. We expect gross profit margins to decline in 2004 due to competition with Percocet® and our extended-release morphine sulfate product. In addition, we expect to experience lower gross profit margins in 2004 on Lidoderm® due to the introduction in 2004 of a higher cost child-resistant single-patch package.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased by 40% to \$155.8 million from \$110.9 million in the comparable 2002 period. This increase was due to a \$31.2 million increase in sales and promotional efforts in 2003 over the comparable 2002 period to support Lidoderm® and Percocet® and in preparation of new product launches. In addition, we experienced an increase in costs in the general and administrative functions in order to support our new product marketing and new product development. We expect selling, general and administrative expenses to increase in 2004 primarily attributable to increased spending on Lidoderm® and certain of our pipeline products in anticipation of future launches as well as an increase in spending in certain support functions.

30

#### **Table of Contents**

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased by 10% to \$51.0 million from \$56.8 million in the comparable 2002 period. This decrease reflects the overall stage of development of our development portfolio. During 2002, we were performing clinical trials on our extended-release and immediate-release oxymorphone products and MorphiDex®. During 2003, our development efforts were focused on a Phase III clinical trial on an oral mucositis product as well as other earlier stage projects focused in the area of pain management and other complementary therapeutic areas. We decided in 2003 to cease our development efforts related to the oral mucositis product. This decrease is partially offset by a \$5.0 million milestone charge we incurred pursuant to our Development and Marketing Strategic Alliance Agreement with SkyePharma Inc. Under the terms of this agreement, a \$5.0 million milestone becomes due upon acceptance for substantive review by the FDA of DepoMorphine . DepoMorphine was accepted for substantive review by the FDA during the third quarter of 2003. We anticipate decreasing our research and development spending in 2004 as compared to 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased to \$6.3 million from \$3.1 million in the comparable 2002 period primarily due to an increase in depreciation of \$1.7 million related to an increase in capital expenditures and an increase in amortization of \$1.5 million primarily due to an increase in license fees arising from the SkyePharma license entered into on December 31, 2002. We expect depreciation and amortization to continue to increase as we increase our capital expenditures for new office space, new lab space and automobiles for our newly hired sales representatives and continue to license in products and technologies.

Compensation Related to Stock Options. Compensation related to stock options for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased to \$144.5 million from \$34.7 million in the comparable 2002 period. Effective January 1, 2003, the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans became effective resulting in the issuance of approximately 10.7 million stock options to certain employees and members of management. Because approximately 9.2 million of these stock options were immediately vested upon their issuance, we recorded a non-cash compensation charge of approximately \$48.5 million in the first quarter of 2003 representing the difference between the market price of the common stock of \$7.70 and the exercise price of these stock options of \$2.42. In addition we recorded a non-cash compensation charge of \$96.0 million in October 2003 as a result of the vesting of the 4.8 million Class C4 stock options representing the difference between the market price of the common stock of \$22.59 and the exercise price of these options of \$2.63. No additional shares of our common stock will be issued, however, because these stock options are exercisable only into shares of our common stock that are held by Endo Pharma LLC. Accordingly, the exercise of these stock options will not dilute the ownership of our other public stockholders.

In the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded a non-cash compensation charge of \$34.7 million as a result of the vesting of the 6.9 million Class C3 stock options representing the difference between the market price of the common stock of \$7.70 and the exercise price of these options of \$2.69. These options are exercisable into shares of common stock that are presently held by Endo Pharma LLC. As a result, the exercise of these options will not result in the issuance of additional shares of common stock and will not dilute the other public stockholders of Endo.

*Purchased In-Process Research and Development.* Purchased in-process research and development during the year ended December 31, 2003 reflects a gain of \$7.0 million related to

the extinguishment of a contingent liability as a result of our decision to discontinue our development program for the oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for the treatment of oral mucositis that we had obtained in the acquisition of BML Pharmaceuticals in July 2002. Purchased in-process research and development for the year ended December 31, 2002 of \$20.3 million resulted from the estimated fair value of our oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis development product that we acquired in the acquisition of BML Pharmaceuticals.

*Manufacturing Transfer Fee.* Manufacturing transfer fee during the year ended December 31, 2002 was the consideration paid to Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company which allowed Endo to transfer up to 100% of any Endo product out of any Bristol-Myers Squibb facility at any time, and for the assistance of Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company in the transfer.

*Interest Expense*, *Net*. Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased to \$.3 million from \$4.4 million in the comparable 2002 period. This decrease is substantially due to the repayment on August 26, 2002 of the promissory notes issued to Bristol-Myers Squibb in connection with our 1997 acquisition from Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a The Dupont Merck Pharmaceutical Company).

*Income Tax.* Income tax for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased to \$39.2 million from \$30.1 million in the comparable 2002 period. This increase is due to the increase in income before income tax for the year ended December 31, 2003.

31

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001

Net Sales. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased by 58% to \$399.0 million from \$252.0 million in the comparable 2001 period. This increase in net sales was primarily due to the increase in net sales of Percocet®, Lidoderm®, the first FDA-approved product for the treatment of the pain of post-herpetic neuralgia and certain generic products. Percocet® net sales increased 43% to \$144.6 million from \$101.0 million in the comparable 2001 period. In April 2001, generic equivalents of Percocet® 7.5/500 and Percocet® 10.0/650 were introduced. In November 2001, we launched Percocet® 7.5/325 and Percocet® 10.0/325. In September 1999, we launched Lidoderm®, which continues to gain market share due to our ongoing promotional and educational efforts. Net sales of Lidoderm® increased 103% to \$83.2 million from \$40.9 million in the comparable 2001 period. Generic products increased 77% to \$149.1 million from \$84.3 million in the comparable 2001 period primarily due to the growth of our generic morphine sulfate extended release tablets and Endocet®. In November 1998, we launched the 15mg, 30mg and 60mg strengths, in May 2001, we launched the 100mg strength and in September 2001, we launched the 200mg strength of our generic morphine sulfate extended release tablets. In April 2001, we launched two new strengths of our generic product Endocet®. Generic competition with our products may have a material impact on our results of operations and cash flows in the future.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased by 69% to \$300.1 million from \$177.1 million in the comparable 2001 period. Gross profit margins increased to 75% from 70% in the comparable 2001 period due to a more favorable mix of higher margin brand and generic products resulting from the product launches discussed above, and the discontinuation of some lower margin non-core products. In addition, the increase in gross profit margins was also due to the fixed cost nature of our manufacturing relationship with Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (formerly DuPont Pharmaceuticals). Further, during the fourth quarter of 2002, we substantially completed the manufacture of the estimated launch quantities of our extended-release oxycodone tablets. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the ultimate timing of this product s final approval and launch, however, an \$8.0 million reserve was recorded in the 2002 fourth quarter to fully reserve for this inventory. See Business Legal Proceedings.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased by 39% to \$110.9 million from \$79.5 million in the comparable 2001 period. This increase was due to a \$15.0 million increase in sales and promotional efforts in 2002 over the comparable 2001 period to support Lidoderm® and Percocet®. In addition, we experienced an increase in personnel-related costs in the general and administrative functions in order to support our new product marketing and new product development.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased by 46% to \$56.8 million from \$39.0 million in the comparable 2001 period. This increase was due to our increased spending on new products under development that are focused in pain management and complementary areas. During 2002, we completed the clinical trials of and subsequently filed the New Drug Applications relating to the extended-release and immediate-release oxymorphone products and additionally substantially concluded three Phase III clinical trials of MorphiDex®.

**Depreciation and Amortization.** Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased to \$3.1 million from \$49.2 million in the comparable 2001 period. Effective January 1, 2002, we have adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and will no longer amortize goodwill unless evidence of an impairment exists. If SFAS No. 142 had been adopted as of January 1, 2001, depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2001 would have been \$2.9 million.

Compensation Related to Stock Options. For the year ended December 31, 2002, compensation related to stock options decreased to \$34.7 million from \$37.3 million in the comparable 2001 period. Compensation related to stock options reflects the charge arising from the vesting of performance-based stock options granted pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans. Under these plans, tranches of options vest when we attain certain common stock price targets. As each tranche vests, we incur a non-cash charge

32

#### **Table of Contents**

representing the difference between the market price of the shares of common stock underlying these options and the exercise price of such options. The decrease in compensation related to stock options is due to the decrease in the market price of our common stock as of the measurement date to \$7.70 in 2002 from \$10.80 in 2001. This is offset in part due to an increase in the number of Endo Pharma LLC stock options that vested in 2002 as compared to 2001. During 2002, 6.9 million of these stock options vested, and during 2001, 4.6 million stock options vested. The weighted average exercise price of these stock options that vested in 2002 and 2001 was \$2.69. On January 1, 2003, the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans became effective resulting in the issuance of approximately 10.7 million stock options to certain employees and members of management. Because approximately 9.2 million of these stock options were immediately vested upon their issuance, we recorded a non-cash compensation charge of approximately \$48.5 million during the first quarter of 2003 for the difference between the market price of our common stock as of the measurement date of \$7.70 and the weighted average exercise price of these stock options of \$2.42. The exercise of these stock options will not result in the issuance of any additional shares of our common stock, however, because these stock options are exercisable only into shares of our common stock that are held by Endo Pharma LLC. Accordingly, these stock options do not dilute the public shareholders. For a discussion of the tax sharing agreement between us and Endo Pharma LLC relating to the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Options, see Liquidity and Capital Resources; Tax Sharing Agreement.

**Purchased In-Process Research and Development.** Purchased in-process research and development for the year ended December 31, 2002 of \$20.3 million resulted from the estimated fair value of our oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis development product that we obtained in the acquisition of BML Pharmaceuticals.

*Manufacturing Transfer Fee.* Manufacturing transfer fee is the one-time payment made to Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals) in the third quarter of 2002 in connection with the aforementioned amendment to the manufacturing and supply agreement, which permitted Endo to transfer up to 100% of any Endo product out of any Bristol-Myers facility at any time and compensated Bristol-Myers for its assistance to Endo in the transfer. See Business Service Agreements; Third Party Manufacturing/Supply Agreements; Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals).

Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased by 67% to \$4.4 million from \$13.3 million in the comparable 2001 period. This decrease is substantially due to our repayment on October 29, 2001 of the term loans outstanding under our credit facility and our repayment on August 26, 2002 of the promissory notes that were issued annually to DuPont Pharmaceuticals (n/k/a Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company) over the initial five-year term (August 1997-August 2002) of the manufacturing and supply agreement with DuPont Pharmaceuticals. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 substantially represents the accretion of the promissory notes issued to Bristol-Myers Squibb, which we repaid on August 26, 2002, which bore no interest and therefore had been discounted in the accompanying financial statements.

*Income Tax (Benefit).* Income tax for the year December 31, 2002 increased to \$30.1 million from an income tax benefit of \$4.6 million in the comparable 2001 period substantially due to the increase in income before income tax. During 2001, we recorded a valuation allowance on our existing deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the utilization of such amounts in the foreseeable future. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we evaluated our anticipated future taxable

income based upon the repayment of our outstanding term loans, new product approvals and other existing and estimated future product performance and determined that it is more likely than not that we will utilize our deferred tax benefits. Accordingly, we reversed our valuation reserves that had been recorded against those deferred tax assets. The reversal of the reserves established in connection with the acquisition of Algos was recorded as a reduction of goodwill. The reversal of the reserves recorded subsequent to the Algos acquisition was recorded as an increase to income tax benefit. The estimated fair value of the purchased in-process research development of \$20.3 million is not a tax deductible item and, therefore, increases our effective income tax rate in 2002.

33

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

Our principal source of liquidity is cash generated from operations. Under our credit facility, we may borrow up to \$75.0 million on a revolving basis for certain purposes as described below. Our principal liquidity requirements are for working capital for operations, acquisitions, licenses and capital expenditures.

*Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities.* Net cash provided by operating activities increased by \$108.7 million to \$218.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from \$109.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase was due to the cash provided by the increase in net sales and gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to the year ended December 31, 2002, offset by an increase in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2002.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities. Net cash utilized in investing activities increased by \$22.9 million to \$45.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from \$22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company paid a \$25.0 million license fee to SkyePharma, Inc. for the marketing rights to DepoMorphine and Propofol IDD-D and paid a \$7.5 million license fee to EpiCept for the rights to LidoPain® BP and certain intellectual property rights. Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2002 included the \$14.2 million used to acquire BML Pharmaceuticals in 2002 and the \$5.0 million used to purchase of DURECT Corporation common stock. Capital expenditures increased in 2003 to \$12.2 million from \$3.1 million in 2002. This increase in capital expenditures was due primarily to the purchase in 2003 of leasehold improvements for our new research and development facility on Long Island, NY and leasehold improvements to a second corporate office building in Chadds Ford, PA.

*Net Cash Utilized in Financing Activities.* Net cash utilized in financing activities decreased by \$125.4 million to \$.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from \$125.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. During the 2002 fiscal year, we repaid all of the promissory notes issued to Bristol-Myers Squibb which totaled \$118.9 million, and we utilized \$6.7 million of cash, including fees, to repurchase 8.6 million Class A Transferable Warrants and Class B Non-Transferable Warrants.

Credit Facility. In December 2001, we amended and restated our senior secured credit facility with a number of lenders. This amended and restated credit facility provides us with a line of credit of \$75.0 million. The line of credit matures on December 21, 2006. Any loans outstanding under the amended and restated credit facility are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets. The credit facility contains representations and warranties, covenants, including a covenant requiring us to maintain minimum EBITDA of \$50 million over the prior four-quarter period, events of default and other provisions customarily found in similar agreements. Our ability to borrow under the credit facility is dependent, among other things, on our compliance with those provisions. As of December 31, 2003, we have not borrowed any amounts under our credit facility.

*Tax Sharing Agreement.* On July 14, 2000, Endo Pharma LLC was formed in connection with the Algos merger to ensure that the stock options granted pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans diluted only the Endo common stock held by persons and entities that held

such shares prior to our merger with Algos. Upon the exercise of these stock options, only currently outstanding shares of our common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC will be delivered. Because Endo Pharma LLC, and not us, will provide the shares upon the exercise of these options, we have entered into a tax sharing agreement with Endo Pharma LLC under which we will be required to pay to Endo Pharma LLC upon the occurrence of a liquidity event, as described further below, the amount of the tax benefits usable by us as a result of the exercise of these stock options into shares of our common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 3.6 million of these stock options had been exercised into shares of our common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC. Upon exercise of any of these Endo Pharma LLC stock options, we generally will be permitted to deduct as a compensation charge, for federal income tax purposes, an amount equal to the difference between the market price of our common stock and the exercise price paid upon exercise of these options (as of December 31, 2003, approximately \$35 million), which is estimated to result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$13 million. Under the tax sharing agreement, we are required to pay this \$13 million to Endo Pharma LLC upon the occurrence of a liquidity event, as described further below, to the extent that a compensation charge deduction is usable by us to reduce our taxes and based upon the assumption that all other deductions of Endo are used prior thereto. If payments are made pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, they will be reflected as a reduction of stockholders equity in the accompanying financial statements.

Using a weighted average exercise price of \$2.60 per share and an assumed effective tax rate of 38.3%, if all 36.3 million stock options under the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans were vested and exercised (including the 3.6 million stock options already exercised as discussed above):

34

#### **Table of Contents**

upon exercise, assuming the market price of our common stock is then \$20.00 per share, we generally would be able to deduct, for federal income tax purposes, compensation of approximately \$632 million, which could result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$242 million payable to Endo Pharma LLC.

upon exercise, assuming the market price of our common stock is then \$25.00 per share, we generally would be able to deduct, for federal income tax purposes, compensation of approximately \$813 million, which could result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$311 million payable to Endo Pharma LLC.

upon exercise, assuming the market price of our common stock is then \$30.00 per share, we generally would be able to deduct, for federal income tax purposes, compensation of approximately \$994 million, which could result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$381 million payable to Endo Pharma LLC.

Under the terms of the tax sharing agreement, we must pay all such tax benefit amounts to Endo Pharma LLC to the extent these tax benefits are usable by us, as described above. However, these payments need only be made to Endo Pharma LLC upon the occurrence of a liquidity event, which is generally defined as a transaction or series of transactions resulting in (a) a sale of greater than 20% on a fully diluted basis of our common equity (either through (i) a primary offering by us, (ii) a secondary sale by Endo Pharma LLC or other holders of common stock pursuant to a registration rights agreement or (iii) a combination of both such primary and secondary offerings), (b) a change in control of Endo or (c) a sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In accordance with the tax sharing agreement, no payments have been made or accrued to date. On July 8, 2003, a secondary sale by Endo Pharma LLC was closed which represented a sale of, on a fully diluted basis, approximately 12% of our common equity which did not, by itself, trigger a payment under the tax sharing agreement, and was not a liquidity event. That offering may, however, be combined with future offerings to result in a series of transactions that will trigger a payment obligation pursuant to the tax sharing agreement. Endo Pharma LLC has informed us that, subject to a variety of factors, including market conditions and stock price levels, it may initiate additional secondary offerings of our common stock in the future.

*Fluctuations*. Our quarterly results have fluctuated in the past, and may continue to fluctuate. These fluctuations are primarily due to the timing of new product launches, purchasing patterns of our customers, market acceptance of our products and the impact of competitive products and pricing. Further, a substantial portion of our net sales are through wholesale drug distributors who in turn supply our products to pharmacies, hospitals and physicians. Accordingly, we are potentially subject to a concentration of credit risk with respect to our trade receivables.

*Growth Opportunities.* We continue to evaluate growth opportunities including strategic investments, licensing arrangements and acquisitions of product rights or technologies, which could require significant capital resources.

**Non-U.S. Operations.** We currently have no operations outside of the United States. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates do not have a material effect on our financial statements.

*Inflation.* We do not believe that inflation had a material adverse effect on our financial statements for the periods presented.

*Expected Cash Requirements for Contractual Obligations*. The following table presents our expected cash requirements for contractual obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

# **Payment Due by Period**

Contractual Obligations	Total	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	Thereafter
Operating Lease Obligations	27.690	2,648	2,920	2.952	2,805	2.812	13,553
Capital Lease Obligations	1,256	651	532	73	2,003	2,012	13,333
Total	28,946	3,299	3,452	3,025	2,805	2,812	13,553

Novartis Consumer Health, Inc. On May 3, 2001, we entered into a long-term manufacturing and development agreement with Novartis Consumer Health, Inc. whereby Novartis has agreed to manufacture certain of our commercial products and products in development. We are required to purchase, on an annual basis, a minimum amount of product from Novartis. The purchase price per product is equal to a predetermined amount per unit, subject to periodic adjustments. This agreement has a five-year term, with automatic five-year renewals thereafter. Either party may terminate this agreement on three-years notice, effective at any time after the initial five-year term. In addition, we may terminate this agreement effective prior to the fifth anniversary of the agreement upon three-years notice and the payment of certain early termination fees. Either party may also terminate this agreement on account of a material breach by the other.

35

#### **Table of Contents**

Teikoku Seiyaku Co., Ltd. Under the terms of this agreement, Teikoku, a Japanese manufacturer, manufactures Lidoderm® at its Japanese facility for commercial sale by us in the United States. We also have an option to extend the supply area to other territories within a defined period of time. We are required to purchase, on an annual basis, a minimum amount of product from Teikoku. The purchase price for the product is equal to a predetermined amount per unit of product. The term of this agreement is from November 23, 1998 until the shorter of (1) the expiration of the last to expire patent that is licensed to us from Hind Healthcare Inc. or (2) November 20, 2011. This agreement may be terminated for material breach by either party and by us if the Hind Healthcare license agreement is terminated.

Life Sciences Opportunities Fund (Institutional) II, L.P. On December 12, 2003, we entered into a subscription agreement to invest up to \$10 million into Life Sciences Opportunities Fund (Institutional) II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership formed to carry out investments in life science companies. As part of this investment, we are able to capitalize on the knowledge of LOF Partners, LLC, the general partner, and its access to, life sciences entities with promising pharmaceutical assets, technologies and management talent and on the general partner s wide range of industry contacts and resources.

In addition, we agreed to certain contingent payments in certain of our acquisitions and licenses agreements. Specifically:

DURECT Corporation. We entered into a license agreement with DURECT Corporation to exclusively develop and commercialize DURECT s CHRONOGESIC (sufentanil) Pain Therapy System for the U.S. and Canada. This agreement was amended in January 2004. Once a specified clinical trial of CHRONOGESIC is started or beginning on January 1, 2005 (whichever is earlier), we will be obligated to fund 50% of the ongoing development costs of CHRONOGESIC. We will also reimburse DURECT for a portion of its prior development costs upon the achievement of certain milestones. Milestone payments made by us under this agreement could total up to \$52.0 million. In addition, this agreement also contains terms and conditions customary for this type of arrangement, including representations, warranties, indemnities and termination rights. With respect to termination rights, this agreement permits us to terminate our continued participation under a number of circumstances, one of which could require us to pay DURECT \$10.0 million. We and DURECT will share profits equally, based on projected financial performance of CHRONOGESIC.

SkyePharma, Inc. We entered into a development and commercialization agreement under which we received an exclusive license to the U.S. and Canadian marketing and distribution rights for two of SkyePharma s patented development products, DepoMorphine and Propofol IDD-D , with options for certain other development products. In return, SkyePharma received a \$25 million upfront payment from us. Milestone payments made by us may total up to \$95.0 million which includes total milestones of \$10.0 million for DepoMorphine through FDA approval. During 2003, we paid \$5 million to SkyePharma upon the acceptance by the FDA of the NDA for DepoMorphine . The milestone payments also include \$50.0 million for Propofol IDD-D , payable when the product successfully achieves certain regulatory milestones, including FDA approval. The total further comprises a \$15.0 million milestone payable when net sales of DepoMorphine reach \$125.0 million in a calendar year and a \$20.0 million milestone payable when net sales of DepoMorphine reach \$175.0 million in a calendar year. SkyePharma will also be paid a share of each product s sales revenue that will increase from 20% initially, to a maximum of 60% net sales as the products combined sales achieve certain thresholds.

Penwest Pharmaceuticals. On March 18, 2003, we received notice from Penwest Pharmaceuticals (a collaboration partner of Endo with which Endo has an alliance agreement and with which Endo is developing its pipeline project, oxymorphone ER) that it was exercising its right under the agreement to cease funding its share of the development and pre-launch marketing costs of this product on account of their concern about their ability to access external capital funding opportunities in the future. Accordingly, we are now be responsible for funding 100% of these remaining costs until such time as the FDA approves oxymorphone ER, at which time we will recoup from the royalties due to Penwest the full amount of what Penwest should have contributed had it not exercised such right. We believe that our cash and cash equivalents and cash flow from operating activities will be more than sufficient to meet our normal operating, investing and financing activities in the foreseeable future, including the funding of 100% of the costs to bring our pipeline products, including oxymorphone ER, to market.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Our cash and cash equivalents totaled \$229.6 million at December 31, 2003. We believe that our (a) cash and cash equivalents, (b) cash flow from operations and (c) our credit facility (which has an available unused line of credit of \$75 million) will be sufficient to meet our normal operating, investing and financing requirements in the foreseeable future, including the funding of our pipeline projects in the event that our collaboration partners are unable or unwilling to fund their portion of any particular project. We may use a portion of our cash and cash equivalents for possible acquisitions and licensing opportunities.

36

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In January 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets*. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002, which had no material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In June 2001, the FASB, issued SFAS No. 141, *Business Combinations*, and SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*. SFAS No. 141 was effective for all business combinations completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for under the purchase method only and that certain acquired intangible assets in a business combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 establishes revised reporting requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets. See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, *Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.* SFAS No. 145 (1) rescinds SFAS No. 4 and SFAS No. 64, which relate to the extinguishment of debt, (2) rescinds SFAS No. 44 relating to the accounting for intangible assets of motor carriers, and (3) amends SFAS No. 13 relating to the accounting for leases. SFAS No. 145 also amends certain other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under changed conditions. Certain amounts were reclassified in accordance with SFAS No. 145 in the accompanying financial statements. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 requires recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred, as opposed to when the entity commits to an exit plan under previous guidance. This statement is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (FIN 45). FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of certain guarantees, a guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair value of an obligation assumed under the guarantee. FIN 45 also requires significant new disclosures, in both interim and annual financial statements, by a guarantor, about obligations associated with guarantees issued. FIN 45 disclosure requirements were effective for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and the initial recognition and measurement provisions are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, we had no guarantees outstanding.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure*. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require

prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We have not adopted the fair value based method of accounting for employee stock-based compensation.

#### Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

On December 21, 2001, we entered into a new credit facility that provides for a line of credit of \$75.0 million. Borrowings under the new credit facility are variable rate borrowings. There are no amounts outstanding under the new credit facility. We do not utilize financial instruments for trading purposes and hold no derivative financial instruments that could expose us to significant market risk. We monitor interest rates and enter into interest rate agreements as considered appropriate.

As of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, we have no assets or liabilities that have significant interest rate sensitivity

At December 31, 2003, we had publicly traded equity securities comprised of DURECT Corporation common stock at fair value totaling \$3.8 million in Other assets. The fair values of this investment are subject to significant fluctuations due to volatility of the stock market and changes in general economic conditions. Based on the fair value of the publicly traded equity securities we held at December 31, 2003, an assumed 25%, 40% and 50% adverse change in the market prices of this security would result in a

37

#### **Table of Contents**

corresponding decline in total fair value of approximately \$1.0 million, \$1.5 million and \$1.9 million, respectively.

We do not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on our revenues or operations.

#### Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item is contained in the financial statements set forth in Item 15(a) under the caption Consolidated Financial Statements as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

# Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

#### Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective for timely gathering, analyzing and disclosing the information we are required to disclose in our reports filed with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

In addition, we evaluated our internal control over financial reporting, and there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter covered by this report that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### **PART III**

#### Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

#### **Directors**

The information concerning our directors required under this Item is incorporated by reference from our definitive information statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14C, relating to our Annual Meeting of Stockholders (our 2003 Information Statement ).

#### **Executive Officers**

For information concerning Endo s executive officers, see Item 1. Business Executive Officers of the Registrant.

#### Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2003 Information Statement.

# Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2003 Information Statement.

#### Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required under this Item is incorporated herein by reference from our 2003 Information Statement.

#### Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information about the fees for 2003 and 2002 for professional services rendered by our independent auditors is incorporated herein by reference from our 2003 Information Statement. Our Audit Committee s policy on pre-approval of audit and permissible non-audit services of our independent auditors is incorporated by reference from our 2003 Information Statement.

38

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **PART IV**

#### Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

- (a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
- 1. Consolidated Financial Statements: See accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.
  - 2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule:

# SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS (dollars in thousands)

	Balance at				Balance
	Beginning of	3			at end of
	Period	Addition	eductions(1	Other	period
Allowance For Doubtful Accounts: Year Ended December 31, 2001	\$ 515	\$ 300	\$ (102)	_	\$ 713
Year Ended December 31, 2002	\$ 713	\$ 779	\$ (657)	-	\$ 835
Year Ended December 31, 2003	\$ 835	\$ 339	\$ (68)	_	\$1,106

<sup>(1)</sup> Accounts written-off.

39

<sup>3.</sup> Exhibits: The information called for by this item is incorporated by reference to the Exhibit Index of this Report.

<sup>(</sup>b) Reports on Form 8-K.

# **Table of Contents**

We filed the following Current Reports on Form 8-K in the quarter ended December 31, 2003:

Dates	Items
October 23, 2003	7 and 12
November 12, 2003	7 and 9

No financial statements were filed in connection with any such Form 8-K.

40

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS INC. (Registrant)

#### /S/ JEFFREY R. BLACK

Name: Jeffrey R. Black

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 15, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/S/ CAROL A. AMMON	Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal	March 15, 2004
Carol A. Ammon	Executive Officer)	2001
/S/ JEFFREY R. BLACK	Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer	March 15, 2004
Jeffrey R. Black	(Principal Financial & Accounting Officer)	
*	Director	March 15, 2004
Brian T. Clingen		
*	Director	March 15, 2004
Michael B. Goldberg		
*	Director	March 15, 2004

Michael Hyatt Director March 15, 2004 Roger H. Kimmel Director March 15, 2004 Frank J. Loverro Director March 15, 2004 Clive A. Meanwell, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 15, 2004 Michael W. Mitchell Director March 15, 2004 Joseph T. O Donnell, Jr. Director March 15, 2004 David I. Wahrhaftig \*By: /S/ CAROLINE B. Attorney-in-fact, pursuant to a March 15, MANOGUE Power of Attorney filed with 2004 this Report as Exhibit 24 Caroline B. Manogue

Table of Contents 56

41

# **Table of Contents**

# INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Independent Auditors Report	F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2003	
and 2002	F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years	
Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for	
the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years	
Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the	
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-7

#### **Table of Contents**

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders—equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15 of the Company—s Annual Report on Form 10-K. These financial statements and the financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company—s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, effective January 1, 2002.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Deloitte & Touche LLP Philadelphia, Pennsylvania March 15, 2004

F-2

#### **Table of Contents**

# ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS INC.

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002 (In thousands, except share data)

	2003	2002
ASSETS		
CURRENT ASSETS:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 229,573	\$ 56,902
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of		
\$1,106 and \$835 at December 31, 2003 and		
2002, respectively	101,284	119,496
Inventories	50,450	35,516
Prepaid expenses	7,145	4,354
Deferred income taxes	85,144	41,219
	<b>150</b> 50 6	
Total current assets	473,596	257,487
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, Net	20,246	11,810
GOODWILL	181,079	181,079
OTHER INTANGIBLES, Net	42,043	36,755
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES	31,045	21,184
OTHER ASSETS	5,871	4,657
OTHERASSETS		
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 753,880	\$ 512,972
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS		
<b>EQUITY</b> CURRENT LIABILITIES:		
Accounts payable	\$ 65,071	\$ 75,443
Accrued expenses	108,567	68,627
Income taxes payable	12,036	8,359
meome taxes payable		
Total current liabilities	185,674	152,429
OTHER LIABILITIES	589	7,851
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES		
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:  Preferred Stock \$ 01 per value: 40 000 000		
Preferred Stock, \$.01 par value; 40,000,000 shares authorized; none issued		
Shares audionzeu, none issueu		

Common Stock, \$.01 par value; 175,000,000 shares authorized; 131,769,766 and 102,064,450 shares issued and outstanding in		
2003 and 2002, respectively	1,318	1,021
Additional paid-in capital	691,631	547,249
Accumulated deficit	(124,612)	(194,402)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(720)	(1,176)
Total Stockholders Equity	567,617	352,692
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY	\$ 753,880	\$ 512,972

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-3

#### **Table of Contents**

# ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001 (In thousands, except per share data)

	2003	2002	2001
NET SALES	\$595,608	\$398,973	\$251,979
COST OF SALES	135,671	98,857	74,891
GROSS PROFIT	459,937	300,116	177,088
COSTS AND EXPENSES:			
Selling, general and administrative	155,827	110,907	79,505
Research and development	51,024	56,823	38,994
Depreciation and amortization	6,272	3,142	49,234
Compensation related to stock options (primary selling, general and administrative) Purchased in-process research and	144,524	34,659	37,253
development	(6,966)	20,300	
Manufacturing transfer fee	(0,700)	9,000	
ividing density fee			
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)	109,256	65,285	(27,898)
INTEREST EXPENSE, Net of interest income of \$660, \$1,155 and \$2,830,			
respectively		4,391	13,290
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (BENEFIT)	108,998	60,894	(41,188)
INCOME TAX (BENEFIT)	39,208	30,081	(4,646)
INCOME TAX (BENEFIT)			
NET INCOME (LOSS)	\$ 69,790	\$ 30,813	\$ (36,542)
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:	ф <i>51</i>	¢ 20	Φ (40)
Basic	\$ .54	\$ .30	\$ (.40)
Diluted NET INCOME (LOSS) Pro Forms to Evolude	\$ .53	\$ .30	\$ (.40)
NET INCOME (LOSS) Pro Forma to Exclude Amortization of Goodwill and	\$ 69,790	\$ 30,813	\$ 3,203

# Workforce-in-Place:

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE Pro						
Forma to Exclude Amortization of Goodwill						
and Workforce-in-Place:						
Basic	\$	.54	\$	.30	\$	.04
Diluted	\$	.53	\$	.30	\$	.04
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES						
Basic	12	8,417	10	2,064	9	1,505
Diluted	13	2,439	10	2,126	9	1,505

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-4

#### **Table of Contents**

# ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001 (In thousands, except share data)

		Common Stock	nAdditional	A	ccumulate Other	d Total	
	Number	at	Paid-in A	ccumula <b>f</b> o	dnprehens	i <b>ve</b> khold <b>&amp;</b> c	simprehensive
	Of Shares	Par Value	Capital	Deficit	Loss	Equity	Income (Loss)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2000 Issuance of	89,138,950	891	385,955	(188,673)		198,173	
Common Stock Compensation	12,925,000	130	96,108			96,238	
related to stock options Net loss			37,253	(36,542)		37,253 (36,542)	(36,542)
Comprehensive income (loss)							\$(36,542)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2001	102,063,950	1,021	519,316	(225,215)		295,122	
Repurchase of Warrants	102,003,730	1,021	(6,730)	(223,213)		(6,730)	
Exercise of options Unrealized gains (losses)	500		4			4	
on securities, net of tax Compensation related to stock					\$(1,176)	(1,176)	\$ (1,176)
options Net income			34,659	30,813		34,659 30,813	30,813
Comprehensive income							\$ 29,637

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2002	102,064,450	\$1,021	\$547,249	\$(194,402)	\$(1,176)	\$352,692	
Issuance of Common Stock from exercise of warrants Compensation related to stock	29,687,602	297	(296)			1	
options			144,524			144,524	
Exercise of options Unrealized gains (losses) on securities,	17,714		154			154	
net of tax Net income				69,790	456	456 69,790	456 69,790
Comprehensive income							\$ 70,246
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2003	131,769,766	\$1,318	\$691,631	\$(124,612)	\$ (720)	\$567,617	

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-5

#### **Table of Contents**

# ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001 (In thousands)

	2003	2002	2001
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:			
Net income (loss)	\$ 69,790	\$ 30,813	\$ (36,542)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to	Ψ 02,720	Ψ 50,015	ψ (30,342)
net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	6,272	3,142	49,234
Purchased in-process research and	-,	-,	
development	(6,966)	20,300	
Accretion of promissory notes	, , ,	4,627	5,449
Deferred income taxes	(53,774)	(8,730)	(4,701)
Amortization of deferred financing costs	398	390	3,603
Compensation related to stock options	144,524	34,659	37,253
Changes in assets and liabilities which			
provided (used) cash:			
Accounts receivable	18,212	(34,167)	(7,017)
Inventories	(14,934)	(7,750)	1,980
Other assets	(3,133)	(24,668)	(3,546)
Accounts payable	14,628	44,738	14,850
Accrued expenses	39,565	41,451	25,957
Income taxes payable	3,677	4,833	977
Other liabilities			(7,011)
Net cash provided by operating activities	218,259	109,638	80,486
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:			
Purchase of property and equipment	(12,159)	(3,084)	(6,546)
Purchase of DURECT common stock		(5,000)	
License fees	(32,500)		
Acquisition of BML Pharmaceuticals		(14,190)	
Other investments	(500)		
Net cash (used in) investing activities	(45,159)	(22,274)	(6,546)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Issuance of Common Stock			06 229
Capital Lease Obligations Repayments	(584)	(204)	96,238
Capital Lease Oungations Repayments	155	(204)	
	133	7	

Exercise of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. Stock Options and Warrants Repurchase of Class A Transferable and Class B Non- Transferable Warrants Repayments of long-term debt		(6,730) (118,889)	(134,017)
Net cash used in financing activities	(429)	(125,819)	(37,779)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,	172,671	(38,455)	36,161
BEGINNING OF PERIOD	56,902	95,357	59,196
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD	\$229,573	\$ 56,902	\$ 95,357
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Interest paid	\$ 378	\$ 384	\$ 7,065
Income taxes paid	\$ 84,751	\$ 33,978	\$ 3,031
SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Promissory notes issued under Manufacturing and Supply Agreement		\$ 23,000	\$ 21,301
Purchase of property and equipment financed by capital leases	\$ 391	\$ 1,312	

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-6

#### **Table of Contents**

#### ENDO PHARMACEUTICALS HOLDINGS INC.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001

#### 1. Organization and Acquisitions

Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. (the Company or we), through its wholly owned subsidiary, Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Endo), is engaged in the sales, marketing, research and development of branded and generic pharmaceutical products primarily in the United States.

On November 19, 1999, the Company formed Endo Inc. as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company to effect the acquisition of Algos Pharmaceutical Corporation (Algos). On December 31, 2001, Endo Inc. was merged with and into Endo. The stock of Endo is the only asset of the Company, and the Company has no other operations or business.

On July 14, 2000, Endo Pharma LLC was formed to ensure that the stock options granted pursuant to the 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, the 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan (collectively, as amended and restated, the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans ), the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Employee Stock Option Plan and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Executive Stock Option Plan (collectively, the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans and, together with the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans, the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans ) diluted only the Endo common stock held by persons and entities that held such shares prior to the Company s merger with Algos (see Note 14). Upon exercise of these stock options, only currently outstanding shares of common stock of the Company held by Endo Pharma LLC will be issued (see Note 16).

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

*Principles of Consolidation* The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Nature of Operations and Customer and Supplier Concentration The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Endo, is engaged in the marketing and sale of pharmaceuticals. We sell our products directly to a limited number of large pharmacy chains and through a limited number of wholesale drug distributors who, in turn, supply products to pharmacies, hospitals, governmental agencies and physicians. We are potentially subject to a concentration of credit risk with respect to our trade receivables. Three distributors and one pharmacy chain individually accounted for 26%, 26%, 19% and 11%, respectively, of our net sales in 2003. Three distributors and one pharmacy chain individually accounted for 24%, 24%, 23% and 11%, respectively, of our net sales in 2002. Three distributors and one pharmacy chain individually accounted for 28%, 24%, 19% and 10%, respectively, of our net sales in 2001. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and maintain sufficient allowances for estimated uncollectible accounts. Generally, we do not require collateral from our customers.

We have agreements with Novartis Consumer Health, Inc. and Teikoku Seiyaku Co., Ltd. for the manufacture and supply of substantially all of our existing pharmaceutical products (see Note 11). In the event of any interruption in the manufacture and supply of these products due to

regulatory or other causes, there can be no assurance that we could make alternative arrangements on a timely basis, if at all. Such interruption could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition Our net sales consist of revenues from sales of our pharmaceutical products, less estimates for certain chargebacks, sales allowances, the cost of returns and losses. We recognize revenue when products are shipped and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer, which is typically upon delivery to the customer. Our shipping terms are free on board customer s destination. We estimate the accrual for sales deductions based on historical experience, estimated future trends, estimated customer inventory levels, current contract sales terms with our wholesale and indirect customers and other competitive factors. Our revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (SAB 101) and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104).

Sales Deductions When we recognize revenue from the sale of our products, we simultaneously record an adjustment to revenue for estimated chargebacks, rebates, sales incentives and allowances, royalties and returns and losses. These provisions are estimated based on historical experience, estimated future trends, estimated customer inventory levels, current contract sales terms with our wholesale and indirect customers and other competitive factors. If the assumptions we used to calculate these adjustments do not appropriately reflect future activity, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be impacted. The provision

F-7

#### **Table of Contents**

for chargebacks is the most significant and complex estimate used in the recognition of our revenue. We establish contract prices for indirect customers who are supplied by our wholesale customers. A chargeback represents the difference between our invoice price to the wholesaler and the indirect customer s contract price. Provisions for estimating chargebacks are calculated primarily using historical chargeback experience, estimated wholesaler inventory levels and estimated future trends. We establish contracts with wholesalers, chain stores and indirect customers that provide for rebates, sales incentives and other allowances. Some customers receive rebates upon attaining established sales volumes. We estimate rebates, sales incentives and other allowances based upon the terms of the contracts with our customers, historical experience, estimated inventory levels of our customers and estimated future trends. We estimate an accrual for Medicaid rebates as a reduction of revenue at the time product sales are recorded. The Medicaid rebate reserve is estimated based upon the historical payment experience, historical relationship to revenues and estimated future trends. Royalties represent amounts accrued pursuant to the license agreement with Hind Healthcare Inc. (Hind). Royalties are recorded as a reduction to net sales due to the nature of the license agreement and the characteristics of the license involvement by Hind in Lidoderm<sup>®</sup>. Royalties are paid to Hind at a rate of 10% of net sales of Lidoderm<sup>®</sup>. Our return policy allows customers to receive credit for expired products within three months prior to expiration and within one year after expiration. We estimate the provision for product returns based upon the historical experience of returns for each product, historical relationship to revenues, estimated future trends, estimated customer inventory levels and other competitive factors. We continually monitor the factors that influence each type of sales deduction and make adjustments as necessary.

*Research and Development* Expenditures for research and development are expensed as incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Derivative Financial Instruments Prior to 2002, we used an interest rate cap agreement ( Cap ), to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. This Cap was matched with debt and periodic cash payments and was accrued on a net basis as an adjustment to interest expense. Effective January 1, 2001, the carrying value of this derivative financial instrument was marked to market for each reporting period with changes in the fair value reflected as an adjustment to earnings for the period presented. The interest rate cap was extinguished in 2002.

*Inventories* Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method.

Property and Equipment Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful lives of the related assets on a straight-line basis. Machinery and equipment are depreciated over three to ten years, computer equipment over thirty months to five years, and furniture and fixtures over three to seven years. Computer software and related third-party design, development and implementation fees that benefit future periods are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over a useful life of three to five years.

*License Rights* Licenses are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization, and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives ranging from thirteen to twenty

years. We determine amortization periods for licenses based on our assessment of various factors impacting estimated useful lives and cash flows of the acquired rights. Such factors include the expected launch date of the product, the strength of the intellectual property protection of the product and various other competitive, developmental and regulatory issues, and contractual terms. Significant changes to any of these factors may result in a reduction in the useful life of the license and an acceleration of related amortization expense, which could cause our operating income, net income and earnings per share to decrease. Licenses are assessed periodically for impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of (SFAS No. 144). The impairment testing involves comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the forecasted undiscounted future cash flows of the product. In the event the carrying value of the asset exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows of the product and the carrying value is not considered recoverable, an impairment exists. An impairment loss is measured as the excess of the asset s carrying value over its fair value, calculated using a discounted future cash flow method. An impairment loss would be recognized in net income in the period that the impairment occurs.

Patents Patents acquired in the Algos merger are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization, and are amortized using the a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of seventeen years. We evaluate our patents for impairment by comparing the future undiscounted cash flows of the underlying assets to their respective carrying amounts. Patents are assessed periodically for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset s carrying amount may not be recoverable. (See *Recent Accounting Pronouncements*.)

F-8

#### **Table of Contents**

Goodwill Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, is carried at cost. Goodwill is assessed on an annual basis on January 1st of each year for impairment unless events or circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred between annual dates. We assess the potential impairment of goodwill by comparing the fair value of goodwill to its carrying value for our one reporting unit. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated fair value is less than its carrying amount. Prior to January 1, 2002, goodwill was amortized over its estimated useful life ranging from three to thirty years. (See *Recent Accounting Pronouncements* and Note 7.)

*Long-Lived Assets* We assess long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

*Marketing Costs* Marketing costs, including advertising costs, are expensed as incurred. Such costs were \$25.5 million, \$14.3 million and \$9.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Deferred Financing Costs Costs incurred in connection with establishment of financing are deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over the term of the related debt using the straight-line method.

*Income Taxes* We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, *Accounting for Income Taxes*.

Stock-based compensation We have adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, while following Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations in accounting for all of our stock option plans. Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is recognized when the exercise price of stock options equals at least the market price of the underlying stock at the date of grant or when a measurement date has not yet been reached. Accordingly, with respect to the stock options granted under the Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, no compensation expense has been recognized. If we were to have adopted the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123, we would have been required to record compensation expense based on the fair value of all of these stock options on the date of grant.

Pro-forma information regarding net income is required to be presented as if we had accounted for our stock options under the provisions of SFAS No. 123. We estimated the fair value of our stock options, as of the respective date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following assumptions were used for such estimates: no dividend yield; expected volatility of 70% in 2003 and 60% in 2002 and 2001; risk-free interest rate of 3.2%, 4.0% and 5.0% for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively; and a weighted average expected life of the options of 5 years. Had the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123 been adopted, net income (loss) for 2003, 2002 and 2001 would have been as follows (in thousands):

#### **Years Ended December 31**

	2003 2002		2001	
Net income (loss)	\$ 69,790	\$ 30,813	\$(36,542)	

Edgar Filing: MACC PEI LIQUIDATING TRUST - Form 10-K

APB 25 Compensation Expense Tax effect of APB 25		144,524		34,659		37,253	
compensation expense	(55,536)		(13,274)		(14,268)		
SFAS 123 compensation expense	(80,116)		(5,495)			2,998)	
Tax effect of SFAS 123	(60,110)		(	5,175)	(	_,,,,,,,,	
compensation expense	3	0,786		2,104		1,148	
	Ü	0,700			_		
		_					
Net income (loss) pro forma	\$109,448		\$ 48,807		\$(15,407)		
rvec meeme (ress) pro remu	Ψ10	,,	Ψ .	0,007	Ψ ( -	-, ,	
Basic earnings (loss) per share as							
reported	\$	.54	\$	.30	\$	(.40)	
Basic earnings (loss) per share pro							
forma	\$	.85	\$	.48	\$	(.17)	
Diluted earnings (loss) per share as							
reported	\$	.53	\$	.30	\$	(.40)	
Diluted earnings (loss) per share							
pro forma	\$	.83	\$	.48	\$	(.17)	
Weighted average shares							
outstanding							
Basic	12	8,417	102,064		91,505		
Diluted	132,439		102,126		91,505		

*Use of Estimates* The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (generally accepted accounting principles) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions are required in the determination of sales deductions for estimated chargebacks, rebates, sales incentives and allowances, royalties and returns and losses.

F-9

## **Table of Contents**

Significant estimates and assumptions are also required in the appropriateness of amortization periods for identifiable intangible assets and the potential impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment Information We report segment information in accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. We have one reportable segment, pharmaceutical products.

Comprehensive Income Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period except those that resulted from investments by or distributions to a company s stockholders. Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under generally accepted accounting principles are included in comprehensive income, but excluded from net income as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to stockholders equity. Our other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of unrealized holding gains and losses, net of income taxes, on the 1.5 million shares of publicly traded common stock of DURECT that we own.

## Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets*. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002, which had no material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In June 2001, the FASB, issued SFAS No. 141, *Business Combinations*, and SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*. SFAS No. 141 was effective for all business combinations completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. SFAS No. 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for under the purchase method only and that certain acquired intangible assets in a business combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 establishes revised reporting requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, *Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.* SFAS No. 145 (1) rescinds SFAS No. 4 and SFAS No. 64, which relate to the extinguishment of debt, (2) rescinds SFAS No. 44 relating to the accounting for intangible assets of motor carriers, and (3) amends SFAS No. 13 relating to the accounting for leases. SFAS No. 145 also amends certain other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under changed conditions. Certain amounts were reclassified in accordance with SFAS No. 145 in the accompanying financial statements. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, *Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities*. SFAS No. 146 requires recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred, as opposed to when the entity commits to an exit plan under previous guidance. This statement is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, *Guarantor s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others* (FIN 45). FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of certain guarantees, a guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair value of an obligation assumed under the guarantee. FIN 45 also requires significant new disclosures, in both interim and annual financial statements, by a guarantor, about obligations associated with guarantees issued. FIN 45 disclosure requirements were effective for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and the initial recognition and measurement provisions are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, we had no guarantees outstanding.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure*. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We have not adopted the fair value based method of accounting for employee stock-based compensation.

F-10

## **Table of Contents**

## 3. Acquisitions

#### BML Pharmaceuticals

On July 26, 2002, our wholly owned subsidiary, Endo, acquired BML Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (BML), a privately held company, for an up-front payment of \$14 million. In addition, had BML s lead pipeline product, an oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis, received FDA approval, Endo would have paid the former shareholders of BML a \$32 million payment and an earn-out based on a percentage of net sales of certain products in BML s pipeline. BML operates as a wholly owned subsidiary of Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. We accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method of accounting. In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the purchase price was allocated to BML s assets and liabilities based on their respective fair values on the date of the acquisition.

The BML acquisition included an on-going project to research and develop an oral rinse product (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis. As a result, the allocation of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed included an allocation to purchased in-process research and development (IPRD) of \$20.3 million which was expensed in the consolidated statement of operations on the acquisition date. The methodology we used on the acquisition date in determining the value of IPRD was to: 1) identify the various on-going projects that we have determined to prioritize and continue; 2) project net future cash flows of the identified projects based on then current demand and pricing assumptions, less the anticipated expenses to complete the development program, drug application, and launch of the products (significant net cash inflows from the oral rinse product (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis were projected in 2004); and 3) discount these cash flows based on a risk-adjusted discount rate of 20%. The discount rate was determined after considering various uncertainties at the time of the acquisition, including the relative risk of the investment and the time value of money. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed, results of operations and cash flows of BML have been included in our financial statements prospectively for reporting periods beginning July 26, 2002.

We allocated fair value to one project of BML Pharmaceuticals, an oral rinse (0.1% triclosan) for oral mucositis. The development program for a new pharmaceutical substance involves several different phases prior to drug application. Further, drug applications must be approved by the FDA prior to marketing a new drug. Despite our commitment to completion of this research and development project, many factors may arise that could cause the project to be withdrawn or delayed, including the inability to prove the safety and efficacy of the drug during the development process. Upon withdrawal of an application, it is unlikely that the development activities will have alternative use.

On October 24, 2003, we announced that our pivotal Phase III clinical trial of the oral rinse product did not meet its primary endpoint of preventing oral mucositis. During the fourth quarter of 2003, we made the decision to discontinue our development program for the oral rinse product for the treatment of oral mucositis. As a result, we extinguished the contingent liability related to the program resulting in a gain of \$7.0 million in 2003.

## 4. License and Collaboration Agreements

Hind Healthcare

In November 1998, Endo entered into a license agreement (the Hind License Agreement ) with Hind Healthcare Inc. (Hind) for the sole and exclusive right to develop, use, market, promote and sell Lidoderm® in the United States. Under the terms of the Hind License Agreement, Endo paid Hind approximately \$10 million (the Hind License Fee ) based upon the achievement of certain milestones. Costs related to the Hind License Agreement are included in Other Intangible Assets at December 31, 2003. In addition, beginning on March 19, 2001, Endo pays Hind nonrefundable royalties based on net sales of the product. Royalties are recorded as a reduction to net sales due to the nature of the license agreement and the characteristics of the license involvement by Hind in Lidoderm®. The royalty rate was 8% of net sales from March 19, 2001 through March 18, 2002 and is 10% of net sales from March 19, 2002 through the shorter of (1) the expiration of the last licensed patent or (2) November 20, 2011. During 2003 and 2002, we accrued \$19.9 million and \$9.1 million for these royalties to Hind, respectively, which were recorded as a reduction to net sales. In March 2002, we extended this license with Hind to cover Lidoderm® in Canada and Mexico.

## Lavipharm

In November 1999, Endo entered into a collaboration agreement with Lavipharm Laboratories, Inc. pursuant to which Endo obtained exclusive worldwide rights to Lavipharm s existing drug delivery technology platforms. Under the terms of this collaboration agreement, Endo paid an upfront license fee of \$1 million. In September 2001, we amended this agreement to limit its scope to one of Lavipharm s existing drug delivery technologies in combination with two specific active drug substances. In January 2004, we

F-11

## **Table of Contents**

terminated this agreement and made a termination payment to Lavipharm of \$3 million plus the potential for up to an additional \$5 million upon the occurrence of future events. We wrote-off the unamortized portion of the upfront license fee and expensed the termination payment of \$3 million in the first quarter of 2004.

# **DURECT Corporation**

In November 2002, Endo entered into a license agreement ( DURECT License Agreement ) with DURECT Corporation ( DURECT ) to develop and commercialize DURECT s CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup> (sufentanil) Pain Therapy System for the U.S. and Canada. In January 2004, we amended the Agreement with Durect essentially modifying Endo s funding obligations of the ongoing development costs of CHRONOGESIC to take into account the program delay. Once a specified clinical trial of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup> is started or beginning on January 1, 2005 (whichever is earlier), Endo will be obligated to fund 50% of the ongoing development costs of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup>. Endo will also reimburse DURECT for a portion of its prior development costs upon the achievement of certain milestones. Milestone payments made by Endo under the DURECT License Agreement could total up to \$52.0 million. Endo and DURECT will share profits equally, based on projected financial performance of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup>. In addition, the DURECT License Agreement also contains terms and conditions customary for this type of arrangement, including representations, warranties, indemnities and termination rights. With respect to termination rights, the DURECT License Agreement permits Endo to terminate its continued participation under a number of circumstances, one of which could require Endo to pay DURECT \$10.0 million. Finally, in connection with this agreement, on November 8, 2002, Endo purchased approximately \$5.0 million of newly issued common shares of DURECT, representing approximately 3% of DURECT s currently outstanding shares.

## **SkyePharma**

In December 2002, we entered into a Development and Marketing Strategic Alliance Agreement with SkyePharma, Inc. and SkyePharma Canada, Inc. relating to two of SkyePharma s patented development products, DepoMorphine<sup>TM</sup> and Propofol IDD-D<sup>TM</sup> (collectively, the Skye Products ). Under the terms of the Agreement, Endo received an exclusive license to the U.S. and Canadian marketing and distribution rights for the Skye Products, with options for certain other development products. In return, SkyePharma received a \$25 million upfront payment from Endo, which we capitalized as an intangible asset representing the fair value of the exclusive license of these distribution and marketing rights. We are amortizing this intangible asset over its useful life of 17 years. In addition, SkyePharma may receive milestone payments in addition to the \$25 million upfront payment of up to \$95 million which include total milestones of \$10 million for DepoMorphine<sup>TM</sup> through FDA approval. During 2003, we paid \$5 million to SkyePharma upon the acceptance by the FDA of the NDA for DepoMorphine<sup>TM</sup>. The milestone payments also include \$50 million for Propofol IDD-D<sup>TM</sup>, payable when the product successfully achieves certain regulatory milestones, including FDA approval. The total further includes a \$15 million milestone payable when net sales of DepoMorphine<sup>TM</sup> exceed \$125 million in a calendar year, and a \$20 million milestone payable when net sales of DepoMorphine<sup>TM</sup> exceed \$175 million in a calendar year. SkyePharma will also receive a share of each product s sales revenue that will increase from 20% initially, to a maximum of 60%, of net sales as the Skye Products combined net sales achieve certain thresholds. In addition, this agreement also contains terms and conditions customary for this type of arrangement, including representations, warranties, indemnities and termination rights. This agreement generally lasts until the underlying patents on the product

expire. With respect to termination rights, this agreement permits Endo to terminate its continued participation under a number of circumstances, one of which could require us to pay SkyePharma \$5.0 million.

Noven Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In February 2004, we entered into a License Agreement and a Supply Agreement under which Noven exclusively licensed the U.S. and Canadian rights to its developmental transdermal fentanyl patch to Endo. We made an upfront payment of \$8.0 million, \$6.5 million of which we capitalized as an intangible asset representing the fair value of the exclusive license of these distribution and marketing rights. We are amortizing this intangible asset over its useful life of 11 years. Upon our first commercial sale of the fentanyl patch, Noven is entitled to receive an additional payment ranging from \$5.0 million to \$10.0 million, depending on the timing of launch and the number of generic competitors on the market. Noven will manufacture and supply the product at its cost, and the two companies will share profits. The License Agreement also establishes an ongoing collaboration between the two companies to identify and develop additional new transdermal therapies. As part of this effort, Noven will undertake feasibility studies to determine whether certain compounds identified by the parties can be delivered through Noven s transdermal patch technology. Endo is expected to fund and manage clinical development of those compounds proceeding into clinical trials.

F-12

## **Table of Contents**

EpiCept Corp.

In December 2003, we entered into a license granting us exclusive, worldwide rights to certain patents of EpiCept Corp. as well as exclusive, worldwide commercialization rights to EpiCept s LidoPAIN® BP product. The license agreement provides for Endo to pay EpiCept milestones as well as royalties on the net sales of EpiCept s LidoPAIN® BP product. Under this agreement, we made an upfront payment to EpiCept of \$7.5 million which we capitalized as an intangible asset representing the fair value of the exclusive right and the patents. We are amortizing this intangible asset over its useful life of 13 years. EpiCept has also retained an option to co-promote the LidoPAIN® BP product. Milestone payments made by Endo under this agreement, including regulatory milestones and sales thresholds, could total up to \$82.5 million.

## Other

We have licensed from universities and other companies rights to certain technologies or intellectual property generally in the field of pain management. We are generally required to make upfront payments as well as other payments upon successful completion of regulatory or sales milestones. In addition, these agreements generally require us to pay royalties on sales of the products arising from these agreements. These agreements generally permit Endo to terminate the agreement with no significant continuing obligation.

#### 5. Inventories

Inventories are comprised of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

	2003	2002	
Raw Materials	\$12,615	\$ 9,150	
Work-in-Process	18,195	2,265	
Finished Goods	19,640	24,101	
Total	\$50,450	\$35,516	
Total	\$ 50,450	φ <i>55</i> ,510	

# 6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is comprised of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

	2003	2002
Machinery and equipment Computer equipment and	\$ 7,709	\$ 6,610
software	10,727	8,617
Furniture and fixtures	12,917	4,116

	31,353	19,343
Less accumulated depreciation	(11,107)	(7,533)
Total	\$ 20,246	\$11,810

# 7. Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill and other intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

	December 31, 2003	December 31, 2002
Goodwill	\$181,079	\$181,079
Amortizable Intangibles: Licenses Patents	\$ 43,500 3,200	\$ 36,000 3,200
Less accumulated amortization	46,700 (4,657)	39,200 (2,445)
Other Intangibles, net	\$ 42,043	\$ 36,755

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, and will no longer amortize goodwill and workforce in place. Goodwill and other intangibles represents a significant portion of our assets and stockholders equity. As of December 31, 2003, goodwill and other intangibles comprised approximately 30% of our total assets and 39% of our stockholders equity. We assess the potential impairment of goodwill by comparing the fair value of goodwill to its carrying value for our one reporting unit. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated fair value is less than its carrying amount. As a result of the significance of goodwill, our results of operations and financial position in a future period could be

F-13

## **Table of Contents**

negatively impacted should an impairment of goodwill occur.

We have one reportable segment, pharmaceutical products. Goodwill arose as a result of the August 26, 1997 acquisition of certain branded and generic pharmaceutical products, related rights and certain assets of the then DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Company (k/n/a Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company) and the July 17, 2000 acquisition of Algos. Although goodwill arose in two separate transactions, the components of our operating segment have been integrated and are managed as one reporting unit. Our components extensively share assets and other resources with the other components of our business and have similar economic characteristics. In addition, our components do not maintain discrete financial information. Accordingly, the components of our business have been aggregated into one reporting unit and are evaluated as such for goodwill impairment. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis on January 1st of each year unless events or circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred between annual dates. Goodwill has been evaluated for impairment upon the adoption of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002 and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment and, based on the fair value of our reporting unit, no impairment was identified.

Effective January 1, 2002, we reclassified the carrying amount of workforce-in-place as goodwill. The cost of license fees is capitalized and is being amortized using the straight-line method over the licenses estimated useful lives of seventeen to twenty years. The cost of acquired patents is capitalized and is being amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of seventeen years.

The pro forma effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 is as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2001
	(in thousa	nds, except po	er share data)
Reported net income (loss) Add back: Goodwill amortization Add back: Amortization of	\$69,790	\$30,813	\$(36,542) 40,431
workforce-in-place			5,948
Less: Pro forma income (tax) benefit			(6,634)
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$69,790	\$30,813	\$ 3,203
Basic earnings (loss) per share:			
Reported net income (loss) Add back: Goodwill amortization Add back: Amortization of	\$ 0.54	\$ .30	\$ (.40) .44
workforce-in-place			.07
Less: Pro forma income (tax) benefit			(.07)

Adjusted net income (loss)	\$ 0.54	\$ .30	\$ .04
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:			
Reported net (loss) income Add back: Goodwill amortization	\$ 0.53	\$ .30	\$ (.40) .44
Add back: Amortization of			
workforce-in-place			.07
Less: Pro forma income (tax) benefit			(.07)
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$ 0.53	\$ .30	\$ .04

Estimated amortization of intangibles for the five fiscal years subsequent to December 31, 2003 is as follows (in thousands):

2004	2,788
2005	2,788
2006	2,788
2007	2,788
2008	2.788

# 8. Long-Term Debt

On August 26, 1997, Endo entered into a revolving credit and term loan agreement (the Original Credit Agreement ) with a group of banks to provide funds for the 1997 acquisition of the Company from the then DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Company (the 1997 Acquisition ), working capital and general corporate purposes. On October 29, 2001, we repaid in full the \$101.1 million of term loans that were outstanding thereunder. On December 21, 2001, we amended and restated this credit agreement (the Amended and

F-14

#### **Table of Contents**

Restated Credit Agreement ). As of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, no amounts were outstanding under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

## **Amended and Restated Credit Agreement**

Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, we have the ability to borrow on a revolving basis up to \$75.0 million. The revolving loans have a final maturity of December 21, 2006. The Original Credit Agreement also provided for a delayed draw term loan with an aggregate principal amount of \$25.0 million that was to be utilized, if at all, by August 26, 2002 solely for the purpose of paying off the outstanding promissory notes that were then payable to Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals). The delayed draw term loan expired unused on August 26, 2002. As of December 31, 2003, we have not borrowed under the revolving loans.

Borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement bear interest, which is payable at least quarterly, at a rate equal to the bank s floating alternate base rate plus a premium ranging from .75% to 1.25%, or at a rate equal to LIBOR plus a premium ranging from 1.75% to 2.25%, depending on the type of borrowing and our performance against certain criteria.

Additionally, fees are charged on the average daily unused amount of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement at a rate ranging from .375% to .50% depending on our performance against certain criteria. This commitment fee is payable quarterly.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains limitations and restrictions concerning, among other things, additional indebtedness, acquisition or disposition of assets, dividend payments and transactions with affiliates. In addition, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain ratios (as defined therein).

## **Promissory Notes Payable to Bristol-Myers Squibb**

We financed a portion of the purchase price of the 1997 acquisition of the business through the issuance of a promissory note to Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals). The note had a face value of \$3.9 million and was payable on August 26, 2002. This promissory note bore no interest and therefore was discounted in the accompanying financial statements using a rate of 9.75%, which approximated our borrowing rate for similar instruments at the time of borrowing. This promissory note was repaid on August 26, 2002.

On August 26, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, Endo issued promissory notes to Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals) in consideration for manufacturing and supply services provided under the Manufacturing and Supply Agreement (see Note 11). These notes each had a face value of \$23 million and were payable on August 26, 2002. The promissory notes bore no interest and therefore had been discounted in the accompanying financial statements using 0%, 7.7%, 7.7%, 7.0% and 7.0%, respectively, which approximates our borrowing rate for similar instruments at the time of each borrowing. These promissory notes were repaid on August 26, 2002.

#### **Interest Rate Cap**

Effective August 27, 2000, Endo entered into an interest rate cap agreement with a notional amount of \$70.0 million for the purpose of minimizing its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. We do not enter into such transactions for trading or speculative purposes. The cost of this interest rate cap of \$350,000 was being amortized as a component of interest expense over the term of the agreement, which was scheduled to expire August 27, 2003. The agreement set a maximum LIBOR rate Endo would pay on the related notional amount of 8.0%. Effective January 1, 2001, the carrying value of this derivative financial instrument was marked to market for each reporting period with changes in the fair value reflected as an adjustment to earnings for the period presented. The carrying value of this derivative financial instrument was zero at December 31, 2001. The interest rate cap was extinguished in 2002.

## 9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses The carrying amounts of these items are a reasonable estimate of their fair values because of the current maturities of these instruments.

Marketable Securities Marketable securities are comprised of our investment in shares of common stock of DURECT

F-15

# **Table of Contents**

Corporation. We account for this investment at fair value as available-for-sale securities.

Unrealized gains and losses related to these marketable securities are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income in the stockholders equity section of the consolidated balance sheets.

## 10. Income Taxes

Income tax (benefit) consists of the following for 2003, 2002, and 2001 (in thousands):

2003	2002	2001
\$ 80,119	\$32,940	\$ 1,859
12,863	5,871	2,149
92,982	38,811	4,008
(50,828)	(7,910)	(5,312)
(8,442)	(820)	(3,342)
(59,270) 5,496	(8,730)	(8,654)
\$ 39,208	\$30,081	\$(4,646)
	\$ 80,119 12,863 92,982 (50,828) (8,442) (59,270) 5,496	\$ 80,119

A reconciliation of income tax (benefit) at the federal statutory income tax rate to the total income tax provision (benefit) for 2003, 2002, and 2001 is as follows (in thousands):

	2003	2002	2001
Federal income tax (benefit) at the statutory rate	\$38,150	\$21,313	\$(14,004)
State income tax (benefit) net of federal	Ψ30,130	Ψ21,313	Φ(11,001)
benefit	3,261	1,975	(787)
Research and development credit			
utilized	(1,400)	(1,000)	(1,620)
Effect of permanent items:			
Purchased in-process research and			
development		7,765	
Goodwill	(2,438)		11,517
Other	1,635	28	248

Total income tax (benefit)	\$39,208	\$30,081	\$ (4,646)

The tax effects of temporary differences that comprise the current and non-current deferred income tax amounts shown on the balance sheets at December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

	2003	2002
Deferred tax assets:		
Accrued expenses	\$ 42,563	\$ 21,843
Compensation related to stock options Purchased in-process research and	84,058	38,157
development	10,068	11,241
Net operating loss carryforward	494	7,030
Other	2,849	2,644
Total gross deferred income tax assets	140,032	80,915
Deferred tax liabilities: Depreciation and amortization	(23,843)	(18,482)
Capital loss carryforward Other	5,496	(30)
Total gross deferred income tax	(10.247)	(10.510)
liabilities	(18,347)	(18,512)
Valuation allowance	(5,496)	
Net deferred income tax asset	\$116,189	\$ 62,403

At December 31, 2000, we had evaluated the available evidence about future taxable income and other possible sources of realization of deferred tax assets and believed that a valuation allowance in the amount of \$40.8 million was required at December 31, 2000. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we evaluated our anticipated future taxable income based upon the repayment of our outstanding term loans, new product approvals and other existing and estimated future product performance and determined that it was more likely than not that we will utilize our deferred tax benefits. Accordingly, we reversed our valuation reserves that had been recorded against those deferred tax assets. The reversal of the reserves established in connection with the acquisition of Algos were

F-16

# **Table of Contents**

recorded as a reduction of goodwill. The reversal of the reserves recorded subsequent to the Algos acquisition were recorded as an increase to income tax benefit. The estimated fair value of the purchased in-process research development of \$20.3 million was not a tax deductible item and, therefore, increased our effective income tax rate in 2002. The Company recorded a valuation allowance in 2003 due to the uncertainty of its ability to utilize the capital losses that arose with the write off of the BML acquisition. At December 31, 2003, the Company had \$1.4 million and \$5.5 million in net operating loss carryforwards and capital loss carryforwards, respectively, for tax purposes, which expire through 2020.

# 11. Service Agreements

We contract with various third party manufacturers and suppliers to provide us with our raw materials used in our products and finished goods including, among others, Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals), Novartis Consumer Health and Teikoku Seiyaku Pharmaceuticals. If for any reason we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities of any of the finished goods or raw materials or components required for our products, this may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals)

On August 26, 1997, we entered into an agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company (f/k/a DuPont Pharmaceuticals) to manufacture and supply products (the Manufacture and Supply Agreement ) and provide research and development facilities (the R&D Lease ).

The Manufacture and Supply Agreement had an original term of five years through August 26, 2002, with options to renew for up to five additional years in the aggregate. When in effect, the Manufacture and Supply Agreement covered substantially all of our then existing and new pharmaceutical products. On August 27, 2002, we amended our manufacturing and supply agreement with the Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company. In consideration for Bristol-Myers allowing Endo to transfer up to 100% of any Endo product out of any Bristol-Myers facility at any time, and for its assistance in the transfer, Endo made a one-time payment to Bristol-Myers of \$9.0 million on August 27, 2002. This transfer fee was expensed during 2002. The amended agreement had a term of one year, ending on August 26, 2003.

The R&D Lease had a term of five years, with options to renew for up to five additional years in the aggregate provided that the Manufacture and Supply Agreement had been renewed. The R&D Lease has been renewed through June 30, 2004.

Any interruption or failure by Bristol-Myers Squibb to meet its obligations under the aforementioned agreements would have had a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Novartis Consumer Health, Inc.

On May 3, 2001, we entered into a long-term manufacturing and development agreement with Novartis Consumer Health, Inc. whereby Novartis has agreed to manufacture certain of our commercial products and products in development. We are required to purchase, on an annual basis, a minimum amount of product from Novartis. The purchase price per product is equal to a predetermined amount per unit, subject to periodic adjustments. This agreement has a five-year

term, with automatic five-year renewals thereafter. Either party may terminate this agreement on three-years notice, effective at any time after the initial five-year term. In addition, we may terminate this agreement effective prior to the fifth anniversary of the agreement upon three-years notice and the payment of certain early termination fees. Either party may also terminate this agreement on account of a material breach by the other.

Teikoku Seiyaku Co., Ltd.

Under the terms of this agreement, Teikoku, a Japanese manufacturer, manufactures Lidoderm® at its Japanese facility for commercial sale by us in the United States. We also have an option to extend the supply area to other territories within a defined period of time. We are required to purchase, on an annual basis, a minimum amount of product from Teikoku. The purchase price for the product is equal to a predetermined amount per unit of product. The term of this agreement is from November 23, 1998 until the shorter of (1) the expiration of the last to expire patent that is licensed to us from Hind Healthcare Inc. or (2) November 20, 2011. This agreement may be terminated for material breach by either party and by us if the Hind Healthcare license agreement is terminated.

F-17

## **Table of Contents**

General

In addition to the material long-term manufacturing agreements described above, we have agreements with (1) UPS Supply Chain Management, Inc. (f/d/b/a Livingston Healthcare Services, Inc.) for customer service support, warehouse and distribution services and certain financial functions and (2) Kunitz and Associates Inc. for medical affairs. In addition, until December 31, 2003, we had an agreement with Ventiv Health U.S. Sales Inc. for sales promotion. We also have agreements and arrangements with various contract research organizations for our toxicology and clinical studies. These agreements continue through 2004, and contain options to renew. Although we have no reason to believe that these agreements will not be honored, failure by any of these third parties to honor their contractual obligations may have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

# 12. Commitments and Contingencies

# **License Agreements and Milestones**

Penwest Pharmaceuticals

Under the terms of the amended and restated strategic alliance agreement with Penwest Pharmaceuticals Co. (Penwest), Penwest is entitled to receive a percentage beginning at 50% of the net realization (as defined in the agreement) of oxymorphone ER. On March 18, 2003, we received notice from Penwest that it was exercising its right under the agreement to cease funding its share of the development and pre-launch marketing costs of this product on account of their concern about their ability to access external capital funding opportunities in the future. Accordingly, we are now be responsible for funding 100% of these remaining costs until oxymorphone ER is approved by the FDA, at which time we will recoup from the royalties due to Penwest the full amount of what Penwest should have contributed had it not exercised such right.

## **DURECT Corporation**

Once a specified clinical trial of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup> is started or beginning on January 1, 2005 (whichever is earlier), unless the agreement is earlier terminated, Endo will be obligated to fund 50% of the ongoing development costs of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup>. Endo will also reimburse DURECT for a portion of its prior development costs upon the achievement of certain milestones. Milestone payments made by Endo under the License Agreement could total up to \$52.0 million. Endo and DURECT will share profits equally, based on projected financial performance of CHRONOGESIC<sup>TM</sup>. In addition, the DURECT agreement also contains terms and conditions customary for this type of arrangement, including representations, warranties, indemnities and termination rights. With respect to termination rights, this agreement permits Endo to terminate its continued participation under a number of circumstances, one of which could require Endo to pay DURECT \$10.0 million.

SkyePharma, Inc.

In addition to a share of each product s sales revenue that may increase from 20% initially, to a maximum of 60%, of net sales as the products combined sales achieve certain thresholds, future milestone payments may be due SkyePharma under the terms of the development and commercialization agreement as follows (in thousands):

Milestone Event	Milestone Payment
FDA final approval of the NDA for DepoMorphine <sup>TM</sup> in the United States	\$ 5,000
The first time net sales of DepoMorphine <sup>TM</sup> in a calendar year exceed \$125,000,000 The first time net sales of DepoMorphine <sup>TM</sup> in a calendar year exceed \$175,000,000	\$ 15,000 20,000
Total contingent sales milestones for DepoMorphine <sup>TM</sup>	\$ 35,000
With respect to Propofol IDD-D, upon the earlier of (a) the Joint Executive Committee s approval of the FDA protocol submission package, which shall follow Endo s receipt of both the FDA end-of-Phase II (EOPII) meeting minutes and the timeline for the Phase III clinical plan, or (b) 30 days following Endo s receipt of the FDA EOPII meeting minutes and the timeline for the Phase III clinical plan	\$ 5,000
F-18	

#### **Table of Contents**

FDA acceptance of the NDA for Propofol	
IDD-D <sup>TM</sup> in the United States	5,000
FDA final approval of the NDA for Propofol	
IDD-D <sup>TM</sup> in the United States	40,000
Total contingent regulatory milestones for	
Propofol IDD-D <sup>TM</sup>	\$50,000
-	

In addition, this agreement also contains terms and conditions customary for this type of arrangement, including representations, warranties, indemnities and termination rights. This agreement generally lasts until the underlying patents on the product expire. With respect to termination rights, this agreement permits Endo to terminate its continued participation under a number of circumstances, one of which could require us to pay SkyePharma \$5.0 million.

Noven Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Under the terms of the license agreement with Noven, upon our first commercial sale of the fentanyl patch, Noven is entitled to receive an additional payment ranging from \$5.0 million to \$10.0 million, depending on the timing of launch and the number of generic competitors on the market. The profit on the product will be shared. This license agreement also establishes an ongoing collaboration between the two companies to identify and develop additional new transdermal therapies. As part of this effort, Noven will undertake feasibility studies to determine whether certain compounds identified by the parties can be delivered through Noven s transdermal patch technology. Endo is expected to fund and manage clinical development of those compounds proceeding into clinical trials.

EpiCept Corp.

The license agreement provides for Endo to pay EpiCept milestones as well as royalties on the net sales of EpiCept s LidoPAIN® BP product. EpiCept has also retained an option to co-promote the LidoPAIN® BP product. Under this agreement, Endo also received an exclusive, worldwide license to certain patents of EpiCept Corp. Milestone payments made by Endo under this agreement, including regulatory milestones and sales thresholds, could total up to \$82.5 million.

Life Sciences Opportunities Fund (Institutional) II, L.P.

On December 12, 2003, we entered into a subscription agreement to invest up to \$10 million into Life Sciences Opportunities Fund (Institutional) II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership formed to carry out investments in life science companies. As part of this investment, we are able to capitalize on the knowledge of LOF Partners, LLC, the general partner, and its access to, life sciences entities with promising pharmaceutical assets, technologies and management talent and on the general partner s wide range of industry contacts and resources.

# **Employment Agreements**

We have entered into employment agreements with certain members of management.

# Leases

We lease office and laboratory facilities under certain noncancelable operating leases that expire through June 2013. These leases are renewable at our option. A summary of minimum future rental payments required under capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2003 is as follows (in thousands):

	Capital Leases	Operating Leases
2004	651	2,648
2005	532	2,920
2006	73	2,952
2007		2,805
2008		2,812
Thereafter		13,553
Total minimum lease payments	\$1,256	\$27,690
Less: Amount representing interest	64	
Total present value of minimum payments	\$1,192	
Less: Current portion of such Obligations	604	
Long-term capital lease obligations	\$ 588	

Rent expense incurred under operating leases was \$2,019,000, \$1,434,000, and \$1,406,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. On January 6, 2003, we entered into a lease for a 24,000 square foot facility in Westbury, New York. Once our current lease of the Bristol-Myers Squibb facility in Garden City, New York expires, we will use this space for the

F-19

#### **Table of Contents**

research and development of our pharmaceutical products. Until such time, we are renovating the Westbury, New York space to accommodate our needs. On November 13, 2003, we entered into a lease for a 64,424 square feet facility located across from our corporate headquarters in Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania.

#### **Research Contracts**

We routinely contract with universities, medical centers, contract research organizations and other institutions for the conduct of research and clinical studies on our behalf. These agreements are generally for the duration of the contracted study and contain provisions that allow us to terminate prior to completion.

# **Collaboration Agreements**

We have entered into certain collaboration agreements with third parties for the development of pain management products. These agreements require us to share in the development costs of such products and grant marketing rights to us for such products. If our third party partners are unable or unwilling to fund their portion of the collaboration project with us, this may adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows in the foreseeable future.

# **Contingencies**

We are, and may in the future be, subject to various claims or legal proceedings arising out of the normal course of business with respect to commercial matters, including product liabilities, patent infringement matters, governmental regulation and other actions. We cannot predict the timing or outcome of these claims or proceedings. Currently, the Company is not involved in any claim and/or legal proceeding with respect to which the amount of ultimate liability will, in the opinion of management, materially affect our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

## 13. Savings and Investment Plan

On September 1, 1997, we established a defined contribution Savings and Investment Plan covering all employees. Employee contributions are made on a pre-tax basis under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code ). We match up to six percent of the participants contributions subject to limitations under section 401(k) of the Code. Participants are fully vested with respect to their own contributions. Our contributions are generally fully vested after five years of continuous service. Effective January 1, 2002, participants are fully vested with respect to our contributions after three years of continuous service. Contributions by us amounted to \$1,376,000, \$954,000, and \$597,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

## 14. Stockholders Equity

#### **Common Stock**

Payment of dividends is restricted under terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

#### Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors may, without further action by the stockholders, issue a series of Preferred Stock and fix the rights and preferences of those shares, including the dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion rights, exchange rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, redemption price or prices, liquidation preferences, the number of shares constituting any series and the designation of such series. As of December 31, 2003, no shares of Preferred Stock have been issued.

#### Class A Transferable Warrants and Class B Non-Transferable Warrants

The Class A Transferable Warrants and Class B Non-Transferable Warrants were exercisable at an exercise price of \$.01 per share into a specified number of shares of Company common stock depending on the timing of the FDA s approval of MorphiDex® for one or more pain indications. Because MorphiDex® was not be approved prior to March 31, 2003, the Class A Transferable Warrants (Nasdaq: ENDPW) and Class B Non-Transferable Warrants expired on such date and have no economic value. The Company de-listed the Class A Transferable Warrants (Nasdaq: ENDPW) upon their expiration.

F-20

## **Table of Contents**

On December 5, 2001, we commenced a tender offer to purchase up to 13.5 million of our outstanding Class A Transferable Warrants and any and all of our outstanding Class B Non-Transferable Warrants. This tender offer expired at midnight on January 25, 2002. We accepted an aggregate of 8.6 million Class A Transferable Warrants and Class B Non-Transferable Warrants for payment at a purchase price of \$0.75 per warrant. We used cash on hand to finance the purchase of the tendered warrants. Following the purchase by us, there were outstanding 9.2 million of these warrants.

## **Pre-Merger Endo Warrants**

The warrants issued to the holders of Company common stock prior to the Algos merger received warrants (known as the Pre-Merger Endo Warrants ), which were exercisable at an exercise price of \$.01 per share into a specified number of shares of Company common stock. As of December 31, 2002, there were outstanding 71.3 million of these warrants. As the FDA did not approve MorphiDex® before December 31, 2002, these warrants became exercisable. Each of these outstanding 71.3 million warrants were exercisable into 0.416667 shares of common stock of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. All of these warrants were exercised into 29,687,602 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$0.01 per share. The warrants were exercisable until July 8, 2003.

# Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Executive and Employee Stock Option Plans and Endo Parma LLC 2000 Supplemental Executive and Employee Stock Option Plans

On November 25, 1997, the Company established the 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan and the 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan (collectively, the 1997 Stock Option Plans). On July 17, 2000, the 1997 Stock Option Plans were amended and restated. The Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans are these amended and restated 1997 Stock Options Plans and reserve an aggregate of 25,615,339 shares of common stock of the Company held by Endo Pharma LLC for issuance. Stock options granted under the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans expire on August 26, 2007. Upon exercise of these stock options, only currently outstanding shares of common stock of the Company held by Endo Pharma LLC will be issued. Exercise of these stock options will not result in the issuance of additional shares in the Company.

Pursuant to the Algos merger and related recapitalization of the Company on July 17, 2000, the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans were established. The Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans reserve an aggregate of 10,672,314 shares of common stock of the Company held by Endo Pharma LLC for issuance. The Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans were only effective on January 1, 2003 in the event that we had not received the approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for MorphiDex® for the treatment of pain by December 31, 2002. Stock options granted under the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans expire no later than December 31, 2012 unless an initial public offering of the Company common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC occurs, in which case the stock options granted will expire on August 26, 2007.

The Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans became effective on January 1, 2003, resulting in the issuance of 10,672,314 million stock options to certain employees and members of management. Because approximately 9,188,186 million of these stock options were immediately vested upon their issuance, the Company recorded a non-cash compensation charge of approximately \$48.5 million in the first quarter of 2003 for the difference between the market

price of the common stock of \$7.70 and the weighted average exercise price of these stock options of \$2.42. No additional shares of Company common stock will be issued, however, because these stock options are exercisable only into shares of Company common stock that are held by Endo Pharma LLC. Accordingly, these stock options do not dilute the public shareholders.

A summary of the activity under the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans from December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2003 is as follows:

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price
Outstanding, December 31,		
2000	25,268,661	\$2.70
Exercised	(735,901)	\$2.42
Forfeited	(353,734)	\$2.57
Outstanding, December 31, 2001	24,179,026	\$2.71
Exercised	(385,201)	\$2.71
	F-21	

## **Table of Contents**

Forfeited	(27,070)	\$3.00
Outstanding, December 31, 2002	23,766,755	\$2.71
Granted	10,672,314	\$2.42
Exercised	(2,466,803)	\$2.46
Forfeited	(87,240)	\$2.80
Outstanding, December 31, 2003	31,885,026	\$2.63

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans at December 31, 2003:

# **Options Outstanding**

Number Outstanding at 12/31/03	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life	Exercise Price
21,185,993 9,396,330 1,302,703	44 months 44 months	\$2.42 \$3.00 \$3.42

Of the outstanding Endo Pharma LLC stock options as of December 31, 2003, 1,381,790 shares have vested and are exercisable ratably over service periods of five years and 1,557,754 shares have vested and are exercisable at the end of nine years from the date of grant. The vesting and exercisability of options may be accelerated at the discretion of the Board of Directors or upon the occurrence of certain defined events. The remaining 28,945,482 Endo Pharma LLC stock options vest in four discrete tranches contingent upon (i) the common stock of the Company exceeding a defined average closing price threshold for ninety consecutive trading days, (ii) the closing price of the common stock of the Company on the last trading day of such ninety consecutive trading day period being greater than or equal to 85% of the defined closing price and (iii) the holder being a director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries on such date. The defined average closing price thresholds are as follows:

Option Class	Common Stock Closing Price Threshold
C1A and C1B	\$ 4.28
C2	\$ 6.62
C3	\$10.58
C4	\$17.29

As these share price targets have been achieved, resulting in the vesting of each tranche of options, the Company has recorded non-cash compensation charges related to the vesting of certain of the options. Under performance-based options, the measurement of expense is calculated and recorded as a non-cash charge at the time performance is achieved as the difference between the market price of the stock and the exercise price of the options. As these charges have been recorded by the Company in connection with the above options, they have been significant. The exercise of these options will not, however, result in the issuance of additional shares of Company common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, 4,810,936 Class C4 stock options vested upon achievement of the aforementioned conditions. We recorded a \$96.0 million compensation charge related to the vesting of these performance-based stock options. The amount represents the estimated difference in the market price and the exercise price of the vested stock options.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, 6,924,363 Class C3 stock options vested upon achievement of the aforementioned conditions. We recorded a \$34.7 million compensation charge related to the vesting of these performance-based stock options. The amount represents the estimated difference in the market price and the exercise price of the vested stock options.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, 4,594,535 Class C2 stock options vested upon achievement of the aforementioned conditions. We recorded a \$37.3 million compensation charge related to the vesting of these performance-based stock options. The amount represents the estimated difference in the market price and the exercise price of the vested stock options.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, 5,880,713 Class C1A and C1B stock options vested upon achievement of the aforementioned conditions. We recorded a \$15.3 million compensation charge related to the vesting of these performance-based stock options. The amount represents the estimated difference in the market price and the exercise price of the vested stock options.

F-22

## **Table of Contents**

The Class C1A, C1B, C2, C3 and C4 stock options are generally exercisable, if vested, upon the earlier of (i) the occurrence of a sale, disposition or transfer of Company common stock, after which neither Endo Pharma LLC nor Kelso & Company hold any shares of Company common stock or (ii) January 1, 2006.

Stock options exercisable pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 were 1,781,348 and 2,527,778, respectively. The shares of Company common stock that individuals receive upon exercise of stock options pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans are currently subject to significant restrictions that are set forth in stockholders agreements.

# Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

On August 11, 2000, we established the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan ( 2000 Stock Incentive Plan ). The 2000 Stock Incentive Plan reserves an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company for issuance to employees, officers, directors and consultants. The 2000 Stock Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, restricted stock, stock bonus awards, stock appreciation rights or performance awards. As of December 31, 2003, only stock options have been awarded. Stock options granted under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan expire ten years from the date of grant. As of December 31, 2003, stock options outstanding under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan were exercisable into 776,719 shares.

A summary of the activity under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan from December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2003 is as follows:

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price		
Outstanding, December 31, 2000 Granted Forfeited	391,250 605,712 (59,351)	\$ 7.20 \$ 8.85 \$ 7.45		
Outstanding, December 31, 2001	937,611	\$ 8.25		
Granted Exercised Forfeited	1,069,455 (500) (21,343)	\$ 9.93 \$ 7.25 \$ 9.38		
Outstanding,	1,985,223	\$ 8.82		

December 31, 2002

Granted	1,441,290	\$15.90
Exercised	(17,714)	\$ 8.74
Forfeited	(78,621)	\$ 9.95
Outstanding, December 31, 2003	3,330,179	\$11.86

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan at December 31, 2003:

# 2000 Stock Incentive Plan Options Outstanding

Number Outstanding at 12/31/03	Outstanding Remaining Contractual	
1,814,269	8.2	\$ 6.47-\$9.50
125,810	8.6	\$ 9.51-\$12.50
1,030,625	9.7	\$12.51-\$15.50
204,873	8.7	\$15.51-\$18.50
154,602	9.6	\$18.51-\$20.80

# 15. Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share data):

F-23

#### **Table of Contents**

_	2003 2002		2001
Numerator: Net income (loss) available to common stockholders	\$ 69,790	\$ 30,813	\$(36,542)
Denominator: For basic per share data weighted average	120 417	102.064	01.505
shares Effect of dilutive stock	128,417	102,064	91,505
options For diluted per share	4,022	62	
data Basic earnings	132,439	102,126	91,505
(loss) per share	\$ .54	\$ .30	\$ (.40)
Diluted earnings			
(loss) per share	\$ .53	\$ .30	\$ (.40)

For loss periods, weighted average common shares are used for calculating both basic and diluted loss per share as the use of other dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive. Anti-dilutive securities were 359,475, 483,055 and 937,611 for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Stock options exercisable pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC 1997 Stock Option Plans and the Endo Pharma LLC 2000 Supplemental Stock Option Plans do not result in the issuance of additional shares of the Company and are only exercisable, after the achievement of various conditions, into common stock of the Company held by Endo Pharma LLC.

## 16. Related Party Transactions

Tax Sharing Agreement. On July 14, 2000, Endo Pharma LLC was formed in connection with the Algos merger to ensure that the stock options granted pursuant to the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans diluted only the Endo common stock held by persons and entities that held such shares prior to our merger with Algos. Upon the exercise of these stock options, only currently outstanding shares of our common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC will be delivered. Because Endo Pharma LLC, and not us, will provide the shares upon the exercise of these options, we have entered into a tax sharing agreement with Endo Pharma LLC under which we will be required to pay to Endo Pharma LLC upon the occurrence of a liquidity event, as described further below, the amount of the tax benefits usable by us as a result of the exercise of these stock options into shares of our common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 3.6 million of these stock options had been exercised into shares of our common stock held by Endo Pharma LLC. Upon exercise of any of these Endo Pharma LLC stock options, we generally will be permitted to deduct as a compensation charge,

for federal income tax purposes, an amount equal to the difference between the market price of our common stock and the exercise price paid upon exercise of these options (as of December 31, 2003, approximately \$35 million), which is estimated to result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$13 million. Under the tax sharing agreement, we are required to pay this \$13 million to Endo Pharma LLC upon the occurrence of a liquidity event, as described further below, to the extent that a compensation charge deduction is usable by us to reduce our taxes and based upon the assumption that all other deductions of Endo are used prior thereto. If payments are made pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, they will be reflected as a reduction of stockholders equity in the accompanying financial statements.

Using a weighted average exercise price of \$2.60 per share and an assumed effective tax rate of 38.3%, if all 36.3 million stock options under the Endo Pharma LLC Stock Option Plans were vested and exercised (including the 3.6 million stock options already exercised as discussed above):

upon exercise, assuming the market price of our common stock is then \$20.00 per share, we generally would be able to deduct, for federal income tax purposes, compensation of approximately \$632 million, which could result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$242 million payable to Endo Pharma LLC.

upon exercise, assuming the market price of our common stock is then \$25.00 per share, we generally would be able to deduct, for federal income tax purposes, compensation of approximately \$813 million, which could result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$311 million payable to Endo Pharma LLC.

upon exercise, assuming the market price of our common stock is then \$30.00 per share, we generally would be able to deduct, for federal income tax purposes, compensation of approximately \$994 million, which could result in a tax benefit amount of approximately \$381 million payable to Endo Pharma LLC.

Under the terms of the tax sharing agreement, we must pay all such tax benefit amounts to Endo Pharma LLC to the extent these tax benefits are usable by us, as described above. However, these payments need only be made to Endo Pharma LLC upon the occurrence of a liquidity event, which is generally defined as a transaction or series of transactions resulting in (a) a sale of greater than 20% on a fully diluted basis of our common equity (either through (i) a primary offering by us, (ii) a secondary sale by Endo Pharma LLC or other holders of common stock pursuant to a registration rights agreement or (iii) a combination of both such primary and secondary offerings), (b) a change in control of Endo or (c) a sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In accordance with the tax sharing agreement, no payments have been made or accrued to date. On July 8, 2003, a secondary sale by Endo Pharma LLC was

F-24

# **Table of Contents**

closed which represented a sale of, on a fully diluted basis, approximately 12% of our common equity which did not, by itself, trigger a payment under the tax sharing agreement, and was not a liquidity event. That offering may, however, be combined with future offerings to result in a series of transactions that will trigger a payment obligation pursuant to the tax sharing agreement. Endo Pharma LLC has informed us that, subject to a variety of factors, including market conditions and stock price levels, it may initiate additional secondary offerings of our common stock in the future.

# 17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

	Quarter Ended							
	M	arch 31,	Ju	ne 30,	_	tember 30,		ember 31,
		(in t	housa	ınds, exc	cept pe	er share	data)	
2003(1)								
Net sales		152,274		52,027		9,355		1,952
Gross profit	\$ :	124,697	\$12	25,769		2,305	\$ 8	7,166
Operating income (loss)	\$	26,651	\$ 7	3,165	\$ 6	4,312	\$ (5	(4,872)
Net income (loss)	\$	16,359	\$ 4	5,168	\$ 3	9,924	\$ (3	1,661)
Net income (loss) per								
share (basic)	\$	.14	\$	.34	\$	.30	\$	(.24)
Net income (loss) per								
share (diluted)	\$	.12	\$	.34	\$	.30	\$	(.24)
Weighted average shares								
(basic)		118,217	131,734		131,761		131,769	
Weighted average shares		•		•				
(diluted)		131,987	13	32,667	13	2,636	13	2,934
	Quarter Ended							
	March 31, June 30,		September 30,		Dec	cember 31,		
		(in t	housa	ands, ex	cept p	er share	data)	
2002(2)								
Net sales	\$	67,026	\$10	07,902	\$11	0,554	\$1	13,491
Gross profit	\$	48,135	\$ 8	30,097		36,162	\$ 8	35,722
Operating income (loss)	\$	10,371	\$ 3	36,702	\$ (2	21,375)	\$ 3	39,587
Net income (loss)	\$	5,376	\$ 2	22,001	\$ (1	18,308)	\$ 2	21,744
Net income (loss) per								
share (basic)	\$	.05	\$	.22	\$	(.18)	\$	.21
Net income (loss) per						. ,		
share (diluted)	\$	.05	\$	.22	\$	(.18)	\$	.21
Weighted average shares			•			` /		
(basic)		102,064	10	02,064	10	02,064	1(	02,064
,		102,281		02,271		02,064		02,104

Weighted average shares (diluted)

- (1) Operating income (loss) and net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the quarter ended March 31, 2003 included charges of \$48.5 million for compensation related to stock options. Operating income (loss) and net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the quarter ended December 31, 2003 included charges of \$96.0 million for compensation related to stock options and charges of \$24.6 million for an inventory reserve for extended-release oxycodone tablets and a \$7.0 million gain for purchased in-process research and development.
- (2) Operating income (loss) and net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2002 and the quarter ended September 30, 2002 included charges of \$40.4 million for compensation related to stock options, \$13.3 million for purchased in-process research and development and \$9.0 million for a manufacturing transfer fee. Operating income (loss) and net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2002 and the quarter ended December 31, 2002 included charges of \$8.0 million for an inventory reserve for extended-release oxycodone tablets, an adjustment to the non-cash compensation charge taken in the third quarter of \$5.7 million

F-25

# **Table of Contents**

making the compensation charge for the year ended December 31, 2002 \$34.7 million and a \$7.0 million additional charge for purchased in-process research and development making the purchased in-process research and development charge \$20.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

F-26

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Exhibit Index**

Exhibit No. Title

- 3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. (Endo) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on August 15, 2000)
- 3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Endo (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2003 filed with the Commission on May 14, 2003)
- 4.1 Amended and Restated Executive Stockholders Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2003, by and among Endo, Endo Pharma LLC ( Endo LLC ), Kelso Investment Associates V, L.P. ( KIA V ), Kelso Equity Partners V, L.P. ( KEP V ) and the Management Stockholders (as defined therein) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2003 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2003)
- 4.2 Amended and Restated Employee Stockholders Agreement, dated as of June 5, 2003, by and among Endo, Endo LLC, KIA V, KEP V and the Employee Stockholders (as defined therein) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Amendment No. 2 to the Form S-3 Registration Statement (Registration No. 333-105338) filed with the Commission on July 1, 2003)
- 4.3 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 17, 2000, by and between Endo and Endo LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on August 15, 2000)
- 4.5 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2003, by and between Endo and Endo LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Amendment No. 2 to the Form S-3 Registration Statement (Registration No. 333-105338) filed with the Commission on July 1, 2003)
- 10.1 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.2 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.3 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.4 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.5 Tax Sharing Agreement, dated as of July 17, 2000, by and among Endo, Endo Inc. and Endo LLC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on August 15, 2000)
- 10.6 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.7 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2001, by and between Endo, Endo Pharmaceuticals, the Lenders Party Thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year Ended December 31, 2001 filed with the Commission on March 29, 2002)
- 10.8 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.9 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.10 Sole and Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of November 23, 1998, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals Inc. ( Endo

#### **Table of Contents**

- Pharmaceuticals ) and Hind Health Care, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.11 Analgesic License Agreement, dated as of October 27, 1997, by and among Endo Pharmaceuticals, Endo Laboratories, LLC and DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.12 Anti-Epileptic License Agreement, dated as of October 27, 1997, by and among Endo Pharmaceuticals, Endo Laboratories, LLC and DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.13 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.14 Supply and Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of November 23, 1998, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Teikoku Seiyaku Co., Ltd (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.15 Supply Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1998, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Mallinckrodt Inc. (Mallinckrodt) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.16 Supply Agreement for Bulk Narcotics Raw Materials, dated as of July 1, 1998, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Mallinckrodt (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.17 Manufacture and Supply Agreement, dated as of August 26, 1997, by and among Endo Pharmaceuticals, DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical and DuPont Merck Pharma (n/k/a Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- 10.17.2 Amendment Agreement effective August 27, 2002 by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Bristol-Myers Squibb Pharma Company as successor-in-interest to DuPont Pharmaceuticals Company formerly known as The DuPont Merck Pharmaceutical Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 27, 2002)
  - 10.18 Amended and Restated Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated as of April 2, 2002, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Penwest Pharmaceuticals Co. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2002 filed with the Commission on May 14, 2002)
  - 10.19 Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2000, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and UPS Supply Chain Management, Inc. (f/d/b/a Livingston Healthcare Services Inc.) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
  - 10.20 Medical Affairs Support Services Agreement, dated as of June 1, 1999, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Kunitz and Associates, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- \*10.21 Endo Pharmaceuticals Holdings Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the

#### **Table of Contents**

- Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on November 13, 2000)
- \*10.22 Endo LLC Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on November 13, 2000)
- \*10.23 Endo LLC Amended and Restated 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on November 13, 2000)
- \*10.24 Endo LLC 2000 Amended and Restated Supplemental Employee Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on November 13, 2000)
- \*10.25 Endo LLC 2000 Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on November 13, 2000)
- \*10.26 Employment Agreement, dated as of July 17, 2000, by and between Endo and John W. Lyle (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Form 10-Q for the Ouarter ended June 30, 2000 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2000)
- \*10.27 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Carol A. Ammon (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
- \*10.28 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Jeffrey R. Black (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
- \*10.29 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and David Allen Harvey Lee, MD, Ph.D. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
- \*10.30 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as September 1, 2001, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Mariann T. MacDonald (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
  - 10.31 Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2000, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals, Endo and Osagie O. Imasogie (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
  - 10.32 Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of April 20, 2000, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals, Endo and Louis J. Vollmer (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
  - 10.33 [Intentionally Omitted.]
- 10.34 Lease Agreement, dated as of May 5, 2000, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Painters Crossing One Associates, L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of

#### **Table of Contents**

- the Registration Statement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2000)
- \*10.35 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, by and between Endo and Caroline B. Manogue (formerly Berry) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
- \*10.36 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, by and between Endo and Peter A. Lankau (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
  - 10.37 [Intentionally Omitted.]
  - 10.38 [Intentionally Omitted.]
  - 10.39 Master Development and Toll Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2001, by and between Novartis Consumer Health, Inc. and Endo Pharmaceuticals (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of the Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended June 30, 2001 filed with the Commission on August 14, 2001)
  - 10.40 [Intentionally Omitted.]
  - 10.41 Service Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2001, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Ventiv Health U.S. Sales Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.41 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31, 2001)
  - 10.42 Development, Commercialization and Supply License Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2002, by and between DURECT Corporation and Endo Pharmaceuticals (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.42 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 14, 2002)
- 10.42.2 Amendment to Development, Commercialization and Supply License Agreement, dated January 28, 2004, between DURECT Corporation and Endo Pharmaceuticals
  - 10.43 Development and Marketing Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2002, by and among Endo Pharmaceuticals, SkyePharma, Inc. and SkyePharma Canada, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.43 of the Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 8, 2003)
- 10.43.2 Amendment to Development and Marketing Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated March 2, 2004, between Endo Pharmaceuticals, SkyePharma, Inc. and SkyePharma Canada, Inc.
  - 10.44 Lease Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2003, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Dawson Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year Ended December 31, 2002 filed with the Commission on March 27, 2003)
  - 10.45 Lease Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2003, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Painters Crossing Two Associates, L.P.
  - 10.46 License Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2004, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Noven Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
  - 10.47 Supply Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2004, by and between Endo Pharmaceuticals and Noven Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
    - 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant
    - 23 Independent Auditors Consent
    - 24 Power of Attorney
  - 31.1 Certification of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Endo pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
  - 31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Endo pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
  - 32.1 Certificate of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Endo

## **Table of Contents**

- pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
- 32.2 Certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of Endo pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Confidential portions of this exhibit have been redacted and filed separately with the Commission pursuant to a confidential treatment request in accordance with Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

<sup>\*</sup> A management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit pursuant to Item 15(c) of Form 10-K.